THE POSSIBLE DEREGULATION **OF CERTAIN** MOS IN THE CATIONS

A PATHWAYS ANALYSIS

AUTHORS: ADRIAN ELY PATRICK VAN ZWANENBERG ELISE WACH DOMINIC GLOVER (CORRESPONDING AUTHOR: <u>D.GLOVER@IDS.AC.UK</u>)



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This report was commissioned and funded by the Greens/EFA Group in the European Parliament. The authors are grateful to Franziska Achterberg for providing critical comments on earlier drafts of the document. The authors exercised full editorial control over the content of this report. All conclusions and opinions, as well as any factual errors, are the responsibility of the authors.

ABOUT THE AUTHORS

Adrian Ely is a Reader in Technology and Sustainability at the Science Policy Research Unit (SPRU), University of Sussex, Brighton, UK.

Patrick van Zwanenberg is a Researcher with the Centro de Investigación para la Transformación [Research Centre for Transformation] (CENIT) within the School of Economics and Business at the National University of San Martín, Argentina, and Marie Skłodowska-Curie Research Fellow (2022–23) in the Science Policy Research Unit (SPRU) at the University of Sussex, Brighton, UK.

Elise Wach is a Research Advisor at the Institute of Development Studies (IDS) at the University of Sussex, Brighton, UK.

Dominic Glover (corresponding author) is a Fellow of the Institute of Development Studies (IDS) at the University of Sussex, Brighton, UK. Email: <u>D.Glover@ids.ac.uk</u>

SUGGESTED CITATION

Ely, Adrian, Patrick van Zwanenberg, Elise Wach and Dominic Glover (2023) The possible deregulation of certain GMOs in the EU: What would the implications be? A pathways analysis. Brussels, BE: The Greens/EFA group in the European Parliament.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
INTRODUCTION	5
ORGANISATION OF THIS REPORT	5
BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT: REGULATION OF GMOS IN THE EU	8
BIOSAFETY	9
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY	10
PART 1: HOW ADOPTION OF GM TECHNOLOGY HAS SHAPED THE AGRIFOOD SECTORS IN COUNTRIES THAT HAVE EMBRACED GMOS	11
PATENTS, GM CROP TECHNOLOGY AND SEED MARKET CONCENTRATION	11
WHERE HAS GM TECHNOLOGY BEEN ADOPTED AND IN WHICH CROPS AND TRAITS?	13
TRENDS IN CONSUMPTION OF PESTICIDES AND HERBICIDES	15
RESISTANT WEEDS	15
RESISTANT INSECTS	17
FARMERS' SEED CHOICES	17
REVENUE MODELS, MARKET POWER AND COMPETITION	19
IMPACTS ON INNOVATION	21
COMPARATIVE ASSESSMENTS OF AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTIVITY AND SUSTAINABILITY	23
SUMMARY OF PART 1	24
PART 2: POTENTIAL IMPLICATIONS OF DEREGULATION OF SOME	
GMO TECHNOLOGIES IN THE EU	26
POTENTIAL IMPACTS ON MULTINATIONAL PESTICIDE-SEED BUSINESSES	27
POTENTIAL IMPLICATIONS FOR EU ENTITIES INVOLVED IN GENE EDITING	28
POTENTIAL IMPACTS ON CONVENTIONAL SEED COMPANIES, FARMERS,	
FOOD PROCESSORS/ MANUFACTURERS, RETAILERS AND CONSUMERS IN THE EU	29
POTENTIAL IMPACTS ON ORGANIC AND AGROECOLOGICAL SECTORS	30
SUMMARY OF PART 2	33
PART 3: ANALYSIS	34
CONCLUSION	37
REFERENCES	40

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The European Commission (EC) is set to propose the deregulation of certain genetically modified (GM) plants that have been produced using gene editing, a set of techniques within genetic engineering. This report looks at the possible implications and consequences of such a deregulation for the European Union (EU), considering the Union's efforts to achieve wider policy objectives with respect to sustainable food and farming systems, consumer choice, innovation, competitiveness, and other strategic goals.

The report reviews the social, technological and environmental changes to agri-food systems in countries that have allowed GM crops to be cultivated with few restrictions, where farmers have planted them at scale-notably, the United States. It draws out insights that can inform current decisions regarding the future regulation of gene-edited organisms in the EU.

The report describes how patented GM crops have enabled a handful of large, transnational agribusiness companies to concentrate and dominate agricultural input markets at global and national scales; and locked agriculture in GM-adopting countries into a pathway of input-dependent, industrialised farming practices that have negative implications for sustainability. It explains the mechanisms that have driven agriculture along this unsustainable path.

In the context of existing intellectual property regimes, deregulation of certain GMOs would likely lead to European agriculture becoming more dependent on external inputs, bundled into proprietary technology packages and controlled by a small number of multinational companies. Smaller and specialised seed companies would likely lose out. Crop research and development would likely be steered down narrower technological paths, and innovation would likely decline in speed and variety as competition decreased in the seed sector. Organic, agroecological and non-GM seed businesses, farms, food supply chains and consumers could be negatively affected by a reduced availability, diversity and choice of seeds suitable for different regions and styles of agriculture. Segregation and cross-contamination of GM and non-GM seed supply chains, farms, and post-harvest value chains would impose additional costs and risks, which would fall most heavily on the pioneers carving out innovative niches in which to explore and develop more sustainable and inclusive alternatives to the concentrated, input-dependent agrifood systems of today.

In sum, deregulation of certain GM crops and foods could have wide and long-term implications, not only for the use of specific crop biotechnologies in farming and food production in Europe, but for the broader sustainable and equitable development of European agri-food systems. The report argues that these potential implications should be weighed carefully in a broad and democratic debate, which should prioritise the desired sustainable directions for European agriculture and food systems, rather than placing a naïve faith in the supposed power of a singular technological pathway that locks farmers, input suppliers, food companies and consumers into an input-dependent technology treadmill.

INTRODUCTION

Policy makers in the European Union (EU) are considering the potential deregulation of certain genetically modified (GM) plants that have been produced using gene editing. This report looks at the possible implications and consequences of such a deregulation for the EU, including the Union's efforts to achieve wider policy objectives with respect to sustainable food and farming systems, consumer choice, innovation, competitiveness, and other goals.

The document reviews the experiences of countries that have adopted GM crop cultivation, particularly the USA; assesses the experiences of EU countries, which have largely avoided GM cultivation and widespread consumption of GM foods; and considers how the deregulation of gene-edited organisms in the EU could affect the EU's farming and food systems.

The report applies a pathways approach (Leach et al. 2010), which was conceived as a framework to address the inherent complexity of sustainable development as a challenge for public policy and governance (see Box 1).

The report highlights what is at stake in decision-making around the regulation of gene edited organisms in European agriculture. The report's The report applies a pathways approach (Leach et al. 2010), which was conceived as a framework to address the inherent complexity of sustainable development as a challenge for public policy and governance.

objective is to inform democratic deliberation and decision-making relating to the future regulation of gene-edited organisms in EU agriculture and food.

ORGANISATION OF THIS REPORT

The next section provides background information about the regulation of genetically modified organisms (GMOs) in the EU and the expected proposal that certain kinds of gene editing should be deregulated. The main section of the document follows, and it is organised into three parts. In Part 1, we review international evidence from countries that have embraced GM technology in agriculture and food, focusing principally on the USA, in order to consider how GM crop technology has affected pathways of change in the agrifood sector—often with negative or ambiguous implications for the current and potential sustainability of agriculture and food systems.

In Part 2, we use a pathways analysis to consider the potential implications of the proposed deregulation of some kinds of gene-edited organisms for the future of agriculture and food systems in the EU. In Part 3, we consider whether the proposed deregulation is likely to support the EU's wider policy objectives and strategies in relation to agriculture and healthy food, biodiversity, environmental integrity, competition, innovation and industrial development. Part 3 is followed by a short conclusion, which summarises the analysis and highlights some key implications for EU policy.

Key supplementary information is provided in Box 1 and Box 2. Box 1 (below) describes the pathways approach used in this report. Box 2 (within the section Background and Context) provides background information about gene editing techniques, how they differ from previous techniques of "classical" genetic modification, and how they have been classified into different categories for the purposes of risk assessment and regulatory oversight.

BOX 1: A PATHWAYS APPROACH

The pathways approach was conceived as an analytical and conceptual framework to address the inherent complexity of sustainable development as a challenge for public policy and governance (Leach et al. 2010).

The evolution of societies and economies, and their relationships with landscapes and environments, are shaped by interacting developments in science, technology, industry, culture, law, politics, conflict, and other dynamic, evolutionary processes. These interactions give rise to pathways of change that are complicated, multidimensional and difficult to comprehend, let alone control or manage (Leach et al. 2010).

Achieving sustainable development in such a complex world is inescapably a multidimensional and political (rather than merely technical) problem-characterised by inherent uncertainties, inevitable contestations around values, competition between rival interests, trade-offs among alternative objectives and strategies, unintended consequences, feedbacks, cross-scale effects, and so on. In this context, the pathways approach can be useful, both to interpret and understand the shaping of historical trajectories leading to the present, and to clarify and weigh up the alternative policy choices available in a given place and time (Leach et al. 2010).

The pathways approach helps policy analysts and decision makers be sensitive to the alternative directions of socio-technical change, the diversity of approaches used to address sustainability challenges, the distribution of costs, benefits and risks entailed by any given policy choice, and the democratic inclusiveness, transparency and accountability of decision-making (the 4D framework) (Leach et al. 2020).

The pathways approach shines a light on key problems that can arise, for society and for sustainable development, when a technological trajectory becomes dominant and entrenched. This occurs when a favoured technology attracts investment, is supported by policy incentives and regulatory measures, builds a community of practitioners and career professionals, embeds social habits and behaviours-in short, a particular socio-technical pathway can develop a self-reinforcing and self-perpetuating momentum, often referred to as "lock-in", which becomes difficult to change. The pathways approach helps analysts and decision-makers to be sensitive to the unsustainable risks that can accumulate, and the blockages to change that can arise, when unsustainable socio-technical trajectories become locked in, social and technological alternatives are squeezed out, and policy options are narrowed down and closed off (Leach et al., 2010).

A good example of this sort of lock-in effect, which can be observed in today's world, is the dependence of our energy, industrial and transportation systems on fossil fuels and their associated technologies. We have become aware that this dependence on hydrocarbon technologies has exposed humanity to great danger. We now know that our energy sources and power systems need to change, but changing them is difficult,

because so much about our modern societies depends on them (Smil, 2019). Sustainable alternatives to hydrocarbon technologies have been neglected until recent times, but now we need them to be rapidly developed, deployed and scaled up. Entire "ecosystems" of practices, skills, knowledge, relationships, policies and regulations need to be built around new and more sustainable energy sources and technologies.

A similar process of lock-in can be observed in global agriculture during the post-Second World War period. A range of modern technologies, including mechanisation, mineral fertilisers, pesticides and high-yielding plant varieties were introduced to increase the production and productivity of crops, especially major commodities such as wheat, rice and maize. However, new farming practices that became possible because of those technologies then became dependent on continued pesticide and fertiliser use. For example, mixed farms gave way to specialised farms that grow genetically uniform crop varieties in large fields, using short crop rotations, which, although efficient in terms of yield and farm management, heightens vulnerability to pest damage, and so requires continued chemical pesticide use. Farmers had little choice but to adopt external inputintensive forms of production or risk going out of business, as farm gate prices of crops fell to match productivity improvements. Besides depending on high inputs of energy, industrial agricultural systems contributed to various kinds of pollution, including greenhouse gas emissions (Campbell et al 2017). There were knock-on effects in food systems and nutritional outcomes.

The pathways approach helps us to understand how modern, input-intensive agriculture became unsustainable in multiple ways, how lock-in effects perpetuate those practices and close off options for alternatives, and why we must be careful about policy and regulatory choices we make today, which will shape the agriculture, agri-businesses and food systems of the future.

BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT: REGULATION OF GMOS IN THE EU

The focus of current policy discussions within the EU is on the proposed deregulation of specific types of gene editing, known as SDN-1, SDN-2 and ODM. The European Commission is expected to publish a regulatory proposal in July 2023, which is anticipated to propose exempting these types of GMOs from product labelling and traceability rules, as well as from certain risk assessments, which are currently required for GM crops in the EU. (See Box 2.)

BOX 2: GENETIC MODIFICATION, GENE EDITING, MUTAGENESIS, AND REGULATION

Conventional techniques of genetic modification are generally used to integrate DNA from one organism into another organism, often an unrelated species. The resulting GMOs are sometimes known as "transgenics," and this mixing of genetic material from sexually incompatible organisms has been perceived as a key source of public concern about GMOs and their safety for people and the environment.

Some newer techniques of genetic modification exploit features of living organisms' immune systems to cut targeted sections of DNA and reconnect them, with modifications. These techniques can be used to remove or insert genetic sequences, or "knock out" or modify the expression of genes. This is known as gene editing. Geneediting tools can be used to change the DNA of living organisms, without necessarily inserting exogenous DNA from another organism—but gene editing can also be used to achieve a stable introgression of transgenes.

A specific gene editing technique, known as CRISPR¹, has been heralded as a precise, accessible and versatile tool, which can be used to edit existing genes, introduce transgenes, or make several genetic modifications in one go.

Genetic engineers and regulatory scientists have proposed to classify gene editing techniques into three types—SDN-1, SDN-2 and SDN-3.² The distinction hinges essentially on the degree to which exogenous DNA is introgressed stably into the resulting GMO—and this has implications for regulation. Genetic engineers argue that SDN-1 and SDN-2 lead to small genetic changes, which are similar to mutations that could have occurred naturally, or could equally be created using long-established methods used in conventional breeding, including techniques, in use since the 1930s, that use chemicals or radiation to induce genetic mutations (mutagenesis) (Waltz, 2012; Wolt et al., 2016).

¹ CRISPR stands for Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats. These are strands of DNA that help to guide the immune responses of bacteria and archaea.

² SDN stands for 'site-directed nuclease.' Gene editing uses nucleases, a type of enzyme, to cut targeted sections of DNA.

Another technique of genome editing, which also does not lead to the stable insertion of exogenous DNA, is oligonucleotide-directed mutagenesis (ODM).

The European Commission's forthcoming proposal is expected to accept the proposition that SDN-1, SDN-2 and ODM organisms are less risky than GMOs produced using conventional genetic engineering techniques, and therefore should be regulated more lightly (see below; EFSA GMO Panel 2012; 2020).

BIOSAFETY

The current EU regulatory framework for GMOs emerged from debates in the 1980s, which led to new biosafety (Council Directive 90/220/EEC, 1990) and intellectual property (Council Directive 98/44/EC, 1998) legislation for the European Community. Parliamentary debates on these pieces of legislation focussed on the potential sanitary and phytosanitary impacts of GMOs and on the wider impacts of GMO cultivation and consumption on the structures and characteristics of European agriculture and food systems.

In the aftermath of the controversial introduction of the first GM crops and foods into European markets, Council Directive 90/220 was repealed in 2001 and replaced with Council Directive 2001/18/EC (2001) on the deliberate release into the environment of genetically modified organisms and Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003 (2003) on genetically modified food and feed. Directive 2001/18 laid out, among other rules, new requirements for environmental risk assessment and monitoring, whilst Regulation 1829/2003 and 1830/2003 described requirements for labelling and traceability of GM food and feed. The latter requirements were widely considered to be important in support the European consumer's right to choose.

In comparison to the relatively stringent approach taken in the EU since 2001, a comparatively permissive regulatory framework in the USA has enabled large-scale GMO commercialisation. Biosafety regulation in the USA has focussed on a narrow range of physical risks, and only recently have any labelling requirements been introduced (Ely et al. 2022). The EU's GMO traceability and labelling requirements, on the other hand, have since 2013 allowed the EU to restrict the cultivation of GMOs, whilst allowing imports of GMOs in food and especially livestock feed.

The European Court of Justice (ECJ) was asked to rule on whether Directive 2001/18 and the aforementioned Regulations applied to organisms obtained by new techniques of mutagenesis (such as gene-editing). In July 2018, the ECJ concluded that "organisms obtained by mutagenesis are GMOs" and fall within the scope of Directive 2001/18; but that techniques of mutagenesis "which have conventionally been used in a number of applications and have a long safety record" are exempted from the Directive's rules (ECJ 2018). This refers, for instance, to mutagenesis techniques that use radiation or chemicals to create genetic variation.

This decision was widely understood to have determined that organisms created using gene editing techniques would be covered by Directive 2001/18, because the technique used to create them was novel, i.e. it lacked a long track record of safe use. Many stakeholders, including companies with interests in the commercial development of gene

edited organisms, objected to this ruling. Shortly afterwards, the Council of the European Union (2019) requested the European Commission to review the regulatory framework for genetically modified organisms in the EU and, if appropriate, make a proposal for reform. The Commission's study was published in 2021 (EC 2021) and the proposal for regulatory change is scheduled to be published in June 2023.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

The upcoming legislative proposal is expected to affect how GM crops created using SDN-1, SDN-2 and ODM techniques are treated with regard to biosafety, traceability and labelling. It is not expected to address the intellectual property rules applicable to these products, which, however, are also relevant for the present report (as discussed in the following sections).

GMOs are patentable under Directive 98/44/EC (1998) and the European Patent Convention (EPC). Following the recent decision by the Expanded Board of Appeal of the European Patent Office (EPO 2020), plants arising from marker-assisted selection or conventional

breeding are not patentable, as they rely on "essentially biological processes" (excluded from patentability under Article 53.b of Directive 98/44/EC and Rule 28(2) of the EPC). The European Patent Office's Guidelines for Examination (EPO 2023), however, state that plants modified through targeted mutagenesis (e.g. CRISPR) are patentable, provided that the patent application discloses the relevant genetic sequence and the technical means through which the modification can be achieved. As such, although certain gene-edited plants may have genetic changes that could have occurred through natural mutation, these plants are still patentable, meaning

Although certain geneedited plants may have genetic changes that could have occurred through natural mutation, these plants are still patentable, meaning that they raise different questions in terms of their potential socioeconomic impacts.

that they raise different questions in terms of their potential socio-economic impacts. The patent holder's permission is required before any variety bred from a patented SDN-1, SDN-2 or ODM plant may be commercialised.

PART 1: HOW ADOPTION OF GM TECHNOLOGY HAS SHAPED THE AGRIFOOD SECTORS IN COUNTRIES THAT HAVE EMBRACED GMOS

Many of the effects of GM technology on agricultural and food system sustainability are indirect. They arise from the ways GM technology has evolved in conjunction with other characteristics of agri-food sectors. For example, as we describe below, GM crop technology is not commercially viable unless firms can recoup large investments in research and development, so private investment in the new crop technology would likely not have happened without the ability to patent engineered gene sequences and associated products. The extension of patent law to cover gene sequences created new and profitable business models, which, over the last thirty years, have enabled concentration of the global seed industry in the hands of a small group of transnational agrochemical firms.

In this part of the report, we consider how the commercialisation of GM crops has been intimately connected to a host of related developments in the agri-food sectors of countries that have embraced GMOs. This includes intellectual property rules, biosafety and other product regulations, business models, industry structures, and crop research and development and innovation strategies. GM technology has interacted with these factors to shape pathways of change in the agri-food sectors of the countries in question, with marked implications for the sustainability of farming and food systems.

PATENTS, GM CROP TECHNOLOGY AND SEED MARKET CONCENTRATION

During the 1980s, patentability rules in the United States were extended to enable the products and methods of plant genetic engineering to be patented—and the effects were felt beyond the borders of the USA. The change radically altered the profit opportunities in plant breeding, which historically had been a low-profit activity. This is because a patented engineered gene sequence can be licensed for commercial use in different plant varieties and crops, in various countries, generating an income stream for the patent owner in the form of royalties. Competitor seed firms are not allowed to use germplasm that contains patented GM sequences in their own breeding programmes without permission and without agreeing to pay royalties on any new varieties that they develop. Royalties can be claimed on multiple seed varieties that contain the engineered gene sequence, including all their future offspring. Furthermore, farmers are not allowed to save and replant seed varieties that contain a patented gene sequence. In effect, farmers rent the technology for one growing season at a time, and must purchase fresh seed each year, paying a royalty on each occasion.

By contrast, firms that create a plant variety using conventional breeding alone are only granted a monopoly on the initial variety. The intellectual property rules which, in most countries, govern conventional seed innovation (known as plant variety protection or PVP rules) explicitly recognise the cumulative nature of plant improvement, so they permit conventional varieties, including new traits they may contain, to be freely used by competing firms in

their own breeding programmes (this is called the "breeders' exemption"). In many cases, farmers can save and reuse conventionally bred seed too (this is known as the "farmers privilege"). Conventional seed breeders must make their money in the period immediately after launching a new variety, and from that variety only.

Triggered by the new profit opportunities that patentable GM seed enabled, a handful of US and European multinational pesticide firms began purchasing biotechnology startup companies and investing heavily in their own in-house biotechnology capabilities (Wright & Pardey 2006; Schenkelaars et al 2011). The same firms also embarked on a wave of acquisitions of hundreds of small, medium Triggered by the new profit opportunities that patentable GM seed enabled, a handful of US and European multinational pesticide firms began purchasing biotechnology startup companies and investing heavily in their own inhouse biotechnology capabilities.

and large seed companies, in order to gain control over those companies' germplasm resources and seed distribution networks. This resulted in a dramatic concentration in the structure and ownership of the global seed industry (Howard 2015).

In the USA, for example—which accounts for 40% of global GM crop production by area multinational pesticide firms had bought up all the major seed firms by the end of the 1990s (Graff et al 2003). In the process, they acquired most of the nation's germplasm resources, at least for major crops like soybean and maize. The OECD (2019) estimated that in 2016, just four companies controlled 91% of the U.S. market value in cotton seed markets, 82% in maize, and 69% in soybean. The independent seed firms that account for the small remainder of the US market in those crops rarely have their own breeding programmes; they depend on seed varieties licensed from the big multinational firms (Tang et al, 2014).

By the early 2020s, following further mergers and acquisitions, just four agrochemical firms—Bayer, Corteva, BASF and ChemChina—accounted for just over 50% of the global proprietary seed market (ETC Group 2022).

This concentration of the seed industry would not have been possible under an

By the early 2020s, just four agrochemical firms - Bayer, Corteva, BASF and ChemChina - accounted for over 50% of the global proprietary seed market.

intellectual property regime based on plant variety protection only. In the 1970s, attempts by multinational pharmaceutical and chemical firms to become players in the conventional seed market failed: lacking sufficient economies of scale—which are now enabled by patent protection—the new entrants were outcompeted by smaller, regional seed-breeding firms, so the new seed divisions of those multinationals were sold off (Schenkelaars et al, 2011). Concentration in the ownership of patents and other crop intellectual property is even higher than in seed sales. Combining data on both plant variety protection for new seed varieties and patents on crop traits, gene sequences, marker identification, and breeding methods, indicates that in 2022 the largest four firms (Bayer, Corteva, ChemChina and BASF) owned 97% of U.S. intellectual property over oil seed rape, with corresponding shares of 95% of maize, 84% of soybean, 51% of wheat, and 74% of cotton (U.S. Department of Agriculture 2023, p. 42).

In short, on a global scale, the last thirty years has seen a relatively diverse seed industry come under the control of a highly concentrated pesticide industry. Today, a handful of giant pesticide-and-seed firms command portfolios of pesticides, GM technology and seeds,

exercising oligopolistic dominance over key crop markets. (We refer to these companies below as "pesticide-seed" firms.) This has important implications for the kinds of GM crop innovations that have been developed and commercialised in the countries that have chosen to embrace GM crop technology, as well as for rates of growth in herbicide, fungicide and insecticide use, for the contraction of farmers' seed choices, for increases in seed prices, and for the operational scope of smaller seed firms, seed dealers and

On a global scale, the last thirty years has seen a relatively diverse seed industry come under the control of a highly concentrated pesticide industry.

retailers. In short, the embrace of GM technology has been accompanied by, and helped to shape, sweeping changes that have had major implications for the direction and diversity of innovative activity in plant breeding and the distributive effects in the wider agri-food system.

WHERE HAS GM TECHNOLOGY BEEN ADOPTED AND IN WHICH CROPS AND TRAITS?

Plant genetic engineering R&D is costly and so is meeting biosafety requirements for new GM crops. The American Seed Trade Association suggests that the cost of bringing a new genetically modified trait through the research, development, regulatory and commercialization process to be about US\$ 115 million (USDA 2023, p. 47). Obtaining and defending patents is expensive too. In fact, large U.S. seed biotechnology companies reportedly spend more on legal counsel than on R&D (Louwaars et al. 2009).

The high costs of GM crop development and commercialisation mean that only certain kinds of GM crop innovations are profitable. As one biotechnology industry executive explained in the early 2000s, those costs are such that a new GM crop trait needed to generate annual revenues, at peak sales, in the range of US\$ 175–200 million in order for the large investments involved to pay off, but "[r]elatively few transgenic crop product concepts can achieve these high hurdle rates..." (Goure, 2004, p. 265). This means that only some kinds of GM traits, which can be incorporated into major commercial crops that have large international markets, and which can command relatively high prices—for example because they substitute for other costly inputs—are likely to be viable.

The high costs of development also mean that small companies and public institutions do not introduce GM crop innovations—while large companies use these costs to justify demanding high prices for their technology, while insisting that they need strong intellectual property protection to achieve this (Louwaars et al. 2009). Even discounting the costs of complying with biosafety regulation, the combined costs of R&D and of securing and defending patents still make it likely that only large companies are in a realistic position to develop and commercialise novel GM traits.

In practice, the only GM crops that are widely grown today are four internationally traded commodity crops: maize, soya, oil seed rape and cotton, and the only two GM traits that have succeeded on a large scale internationally are for insect pest resistance (based on Bacillus thuringiensis genes (Bt)) and herbicide tolerance (HT, to various herbicides) (NAS Committee on Genetically Engineered Crops 2016). This is partly because Bt crops have helped to substitute for

In practice, the only GM crops that are widely grown today are maize, soya, oil seed rape and cotton, and the only two GM traits that have succeeded on a large scale are for insect resistance (Bt) and tolerance to various herbicides.

inputs of labour and chemical insecticides, while HT crops provide flexibility in weed control. But another reason why HT crops have dominated is because the business model of the global seed and agrochemical firms has been to maximise commercial synergies between the firms' seed and pesticide assets: they sell herbicides alongside proprietary HT crops. Seed contracts with farmers typically oblige the farmers to buy proprietary (branded) versions of the pesticide-seed firms' herbicide products, rather than cheaper, off-patent alternatives. The centrality of this marketing strategy is reflected in the branding of GM seeds as "Roundup Ready" and "Liberty Link". Very nearly all of the GM crop acreage in the U.S. comprises crops that have one or more HT traits, and this has very substantially increased the sale and use of the linked herbicides.

In the early 2000s, revolutionary promises were claimed for GM technology, which was going to alleviate hunger and poverty, address nutritional deficiencies, produce cheap vaccines, and make farming sustainable (Smith 2000; Royal Society et al 2000). Corporate and scientific narratives about the huge diversity of useful GM traits "in the pipeline" glossed over the commercial realities. Aside from the Bt and HT crops described above, other traits, for example longer shelf life, higher vitamin content, and disease resistance, have been engineered-however, most are not in commercial production (NAS Committee on Genetically Engineered Crops 2016). Virus resistance has been very rarely commercialised, with variable outcomes: virus-resistant papaya has seen success in some locations (Gonsalves et al 2007), whilst other examples (e.g. virus-resistant sweet potato in Kenya-see New Scientist 2004) have not. Drought-tolerant transgenic crops have proved more difficult to develop to commercialisation, with slow progress in soy and maize and some "false dawns" in wheat (Araus et al 2019). Biofortified crops have also proved more difficult to bring to the market than once hoped. These experiences suggest that ambitious claims being made for genetic engineering, including genome editing, should be examined sceptically.

In 2019, 98% of the global acreage of GM crops was confined to 10 countries, whilst about 85% was accounted for by just four countries—the U.S., Brazil, Canada and Argentina (ISAAA 2019). Most jurisdictions do not grow GM crops, or do so in very small quantities. Public scepticism about the need for GM technology, as well as concern about potential risks associated with GM crops, combined with mandatory labelling of foods containing GM ingredients, has meant that GM crops are not cultivated in the EU (except for small quantities in Spain), or in many other countries too—sometimes because of the same concerns, but also because Europe is a major destination for agricultural exports, and exporting countries do not wish to risk losing access to European markets.

TRENDS IN CONSUMPTION OF PESTICIDES AND HERBICIDES

Data up to 2012 indicated that the adoption of GM crops in the U.S. had driven an increase in total pesticide use by 183 million kgs since 1996, compared to the levels of pesticide use that could have been expected in the absence of HT and insect-resistant varieties. HT crop technology led to a 239 million kg increase in total herbicide use in the U.S. in the 16 years following the initial commercialisation of GM crops (1996–2011). Insect-resistant

crops led to a reduction in chemical insecticide spraying of 56 million kilograms, although, when the inplant Bt insecticide is added back, there was no net reduction in overall insecticide application (Benbrook 2012). Other data illustrates similar trends. In 2017, for example, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) recorded a 34% increase in agricultural herbicide use over the period 2005 to 2012 (cited in U.S. Center for Food Safety 2022).

In Brazil, a greater than three-fold increase in pesticide use in soybean production occurred following the commercialisation of GM varieties, while overall pesticide use increased 1.6-fold.

A similar picture is evident in other countries that have embraced GM technology. In Brazil, for example, a greater than three-fold increase in pesticide use in soybean production occurred over a 13-year period following the commercialisation of GM varieties, while overall pesticide use increased 1.6-fold (Almeida et al 2017).

RESISTANT WEEDS

The emergence and spread of glyphosate-resistant weeds is assessed to be the most important factor driving up herbicide use on land planted to HT varieties in the U.S. Weeds evolve rapidly to become resistant to herbicides to which they are exposed. Glyphosate-resistant weeds were practically unknown before the introduction of glyphosate-tolerant crops in 1996, but have now become a major problem for economic farm management, driving substantial increases in the number and volume of herbicides applied, as discussed in the previous section (Benbrook 2012). A similar effect has been seen in other countries that planted HT crops. Within a few years of the

widespread adoption of glyphosate-tolerant soybeans, glyphosate-resistant weeds had become a major problem in many Latin American countries (Peterson et al 2017).

By 2015, there were 32 glyphosate resistant weeds in the world, of which 14 were in the USA, particularly in soybean, corn, and cotton fields, as well in orchards and vineyards on which glyphosate has been repeatedly applied. Some weeds have developed resistance to multiple herbicides, making them difficult to control by any chemical means—and multiresistance is spreading (Bonny 2016). In 2012, the area affected by glyphosate-resistant weeds was about 6.3 million ha globally, of which approximately 95% was in the USA, in cropping systems using glyphosate-tolerant crops.

Within a few years of the widespread adoption of glyphosate-tolerant soybeans, glyphosateresistant weeds had become a major problem in many Latin American countries.

Other assessments place a much higher estimate on the size of the problem. Bonny (2016) cited one 2013 survey that reported up to 28 million ha. of U.S. farmland was affected by glyphosate-resistant weeds. A 2017 industry survey of 4,000 farmers across the U.S. found that 73% of farmers reported glyphosate-resistant weeds (cited in Centre for Food Safety 2022), while the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) has estimated that glyphosate-resistant weeds reduce maize and soybean farmers' returns by \$5.4 billion per year (ibid.)

The emergence of glyphosate-resistant weeds has meant not only that farmers must use additional herbicides, as discussed above—leading to an increase in the total cost of herbicides used and driving greater overall toxicity to the environment—farmers also lost the practical convenience they had originally derived from spraying glyphosate over glyphosate-tolerant crops. The pesticide-seed firms have also responded to glyphosateresistant weed problems by introducing new GM crops that can tolerate combinations of glyphosate and additional herbicides, such as Dicamba and 2,4-D. The pesticide-seed firms dominate the relevant markets, and can and have withdrawn previously available crop varieties, leaving farmers with no alternative other than to buy new varieties with multiple "stacked" HT traits.

Critics of this trend have warned that this arms race chiefly benefits the firms that produce GM crops and crop protection chemicals, rather than farmers or consumers (Ceccarelli 2014). Here is a good example of a lock-in effect, driven by a biological dynamic, which entrenches a pathway of technological development that has negative effects overall, but which becomes difficult to escape. Farmers become locked into a technology treadmill.

The critics of GM-dependent weed management argue that the short-term fix provided by stacked HT traits encourages the continued neglect of public research and extension in alternative methods of weed control, such as integrated weed management (IWM) (Mortensen et al. 2012). Herbicide-resistant weeds can and have developed, in Europe and elsewhere, in the absence of GM HT crops—but a scientific discussion of prevention and mitigation strategies in Spain, where GM HT crops are currently available, focuses on IWM strategies, rather than advocating wider adoption of HT crops (Montull and Torra 2023). Crops with stacked HT traits are likely to eventually increase the severity of resistant weed problems. Already, weed species resistant to multiple herbicide modes of action are becoming more widespread and diverse (Ceccarelli 2014; Montull and Torra 2023). Weed species resistant to multiple herbicide modes of action are becoming more widespread and diverse.

RESISTANT INSECTS

A similar issue has arisen with Bt insect-resistant crops. Initially, and for several years, Bt technology afforded farmers a convenient and effective way to combat some kinds of pests, however, after a few seasons, populations of Bt-resistant insects appeared and began to cause problems. Today, field-evolved resistance to Bt has been reported in 26 cases, involving 11 pest species, across seven countries.³ Seventeen more cases show early warning signs

of resistance emerging (Tabashnik et al. 2023). Strategies exist to prevent and retard the emergence of evolved pestresistance, but these strategies entailsome management complexity and costs for farmers, collectiveaction challenges for stakeholders,

Field-evolved resistance to Bt has been reported in 26 cases, involving 11 pest species, across seven countries.

and monitoring and surveillance costs for stakeholders and society (Carrière et al. 2020). As we saw in the case of herbicide-resistant weeds, the pesticide-seed industry advocates a response to resistant insects that involves stacking multiple genetically engineered Bt traits, encompassing more than one different mode of action against insects.

Insect-resistance has not been a universal effect of Bt crop cultivation. A review by Tabashnik et al. (2023) found 30 cases worldwide in which no evolved pest resistance to Bt toxins has been detected. Within the EU, pest resistance to Bt has yet not been reported in Spain, where Bt maize has been cultivated since 1998. Scientists assert that this shows the effectiveness of resistance-management strategies and monitoring systems in the EU; however, the scientists also fear that pest resistance to Bt is more likely to evolve if Europe's farmers are permitted to plant only the single Bt transgenic "event" that has been approved to date for planting in the EU (García et al. 2023). Allowing the commercialisation of multiple, stacked GM Bt traits would likely involve a side-effect of tying farmers more tightly into a proprietary GM seed system dominated by large, transnational pesticide-seed companies—the next section turns to this issue.

FARMERS' SEED CHOICES

There are other aspects of the pesticide-seed firms' commercial strategies that lock U.S. farmers into increasing pesticide use. The companies often bundle their own fungicides and insecticides with GM seeds, in the form of chemical seed treatments. In the U.S., almost 100% of corn seed, the majority of soybean seed, and the seeds of many other

³ Each 'case' represents 'the response of one pest species in one country to one Bt toxin produced by one or more Bt crops' (Tabashnik et al. 2023: abstract).

crops are routinely coated with neonicotinoid insecticides, which are known to harm pollinators (Wood and Goulson 2017), and multiple fungicides (US Center for Food Safety 2022). Since the seed market in the U.S. is almost completely dominated by the global pesticide-seed firms, especially for the major crops of soya, maize, oilseed rape and cotton, "[f]armers have little or no choice of 'bare' seed, and often have little knowledge of the pesticidal coatings or their purpose" (US Center for Food Safety 2022, p. 11-12). This has become another driver of pesticide-intensive agriculture in the U.S. and other jurisdictions where GM crops have been commercialised.

U.S. farmers' organisations and other commentators on the U.S. agricultural sector are concerned that GM crop commercialisation has restricted farmers' choices of seeds and technologies. In part, this is because fewer conventional (non-GM) crop varieties are available, as the large pesticide-seed firms have removed many such varieties from the market. In part, the problem stems from the consolidation of the seed industry, which has led to a decline in locally and regionally adapted varieties (USDA 2023). The variety of farming systems that are catered for by the seed industry has diminished, as the large pesticide-seed firms focus primarily on industrial farming systems, while smaller seed firms that cater for alternative production systems, such as organic farming, or even for seed varieties that are not pre-treated with fungicides and insecticides, struggle to stay in business.

The American Antitrust Institute has noted that Monsanto (which was acquired by Bayer in 2018) repeatedly discontinued the seed lines of companies it acquired and cited the seed industry press as reporting that "[s]eed companies have either cut back on non-biotech offerings or have dropped them" (American Antitrust Institute 2022, p. 7). The U.S. Organic Seed Alliance (2022) has noted that some firms selling GM maize have eliminated non-GM options altogether, and have released new high-yielding varieties only with stacked GM traits incorporated. This means that farmers can only access the newest elite germplasm (combining disease resistance, high yield potential, and other valued traits) by paying for GM HT and/or insect-resistance traits.

This has made farmers more dependent on the GM seed-and-herbicide cropping systems and locked them into technology treadmill. Independent seed firms find it hard to provide alternatives for farmers who want them. The largest biotechnology companies own most of inbred maize seed lines (which are used for breeding), and have been unwilling to license them to seed companies wishing to develop maize varieties suitable for organic production, without the chemical seed treatments, which the big pesticide-seed companies routinely apply but which are prohibited in the national organic standards. According to the president of one seed company, out of more than 1,940 hybrid lines available, only 8% are available as a non-GM line and in an untreated form (Organic Seed Alliance 2022, p. 21).

Some farmers in the U.S. have been forced to purchase herbicide-resistant varieties when they otherwise would choose not to, because of the problem of herbicide drift. The HT trait facilitates spraying of herbicide applications over the top of the HT crop during the growing season rather than prior to planting. When this is done, the herbicide droplets can drift onto neighbouring fields and damage crops that lack the relevant HT trait. The USDA has noted that some farmers plant HT

Some farmers in the U.S. have been forced to purchase herbicideresistant varieties because of the problem of herbicide drift. crops, not necessarily because the varieties are superior, but because planting herbicidesusceptible seeds carries an unacceptable risk of having crops damaged by herbicide drift (USDA 2023). Here, we see another mechanism of lock-in, where farmers use herbicidedependent farming practices, not because they are best for their business, but because they want to protect themselves from products and practices with which they cannot coexist.

The USDA and EPA believe that such "defensive" planting has contributed to rapid adoption rates for Dicamba-tolerant GM seeds. They anticipate that seed companies may not be able to successfully commercialise any new variety in some regions, unless it has the Dicamba-tolerance trait (USDA 2023).

The switch into GM-centric farming practices has other lock-in effects. For example, intercropping is a farming practice that contributes to greater resilience to pests, diseases and climate variability, improved soil retention, and improved water usage. Intercropping depends on cultivating several companion crops alongside one another. GM HT cropping systems are based on an entirely different conception of input-dependent farming: unless all the crops in the system are herbicide-tolerant, herbicides cannot be used, and GM HT crops are irrelevant (Altieri 2005).

REVENUE MODELS, MARKET POWER AND COMPETITION

As noted earlier, the business models of the very large pesticide-seed companies typically involves bundling GM traits and patented seed varieties with herbicides and pesticides. The revenue model usually involves "leasing" GM seeds (i.e. permitting farmers to use the patented seed for one growing season) under individual contracts. The firms also license GM traits and germplasm to crop breeders and seed companies, both to their large competitors and to smaller seed firms, and as noted earlier, can as a result collect substantial royalties from multiple varieties in the market that contain

their patented traits. In the soya sector in Argentina, for example, Monsanto's herbicide tolerant GM trait, which was commercialised in the 1990s, was licensed to all other seed firms selling soya, and is present in virtually all commercial soya seeds. Each year, Monsanto (now part of Bayer) receives about two thirds of the retail price of those seeds in the form

In Argentina, Monsanto's herbicide tolerant GM trait is present in virtually all commercial soya seeds.

of royalties (Marin et al 2023), even though Monsanto itself has a negligible share of the soya seed variety market in Argentina. The size of that royalty is notable, because the seeds also contain many other valuable traits that have been introduced over many years by conventional breeding. As the sole owner of the GM herbicide tolerance trait, made commercially valuable within the context of an industrial farming system that increasingly depends on supplying combinations of HT crops with proprietary herbicide formulations, Monsanto possesses considerable market power in negotiating licences.

In the U.S., smaller seed firms typically no longer have their own breeding programmes. Instead, they license varieties and patented traits from the large pesticide-seed companies, but the terms and conditions under which they do so are skewed to benefit the large firms, which exercise near-monopoly control over key seed markets. The U.S. Independent Professional Seed Association has noted that, in order to license patented traits and varieties, seed companies "must provide a multinational corporation with a list of all our customers, (complete with addresses), the amount of seed purchased by product for each customer, as well as our complete company financials. After giving them all our company information [which includes costs and profit margins, as well as complete information on their market and customers] we need to try to compete against their company and owned brands" (cited in USDA 2023, p. 48).

In effect, the dominant market players can deny a licence to any smaller seed company that pursues a strategy which the licensor does not like, such as by trying to combine biotech traits from one firm with germplasm from another firm, or to sell generic chemical inputs alongside seeds that incorporate patented GM traits (USDA 2023). For example, in Argentina, Monsanto insisted that one major domestic soya seed breeder could introduce Monsanto's stacked traits into only the top 15% of the domestic firm's most productive soybean varieties. This had the effect of associating Monsanto's GM technologies with the best-performing germplasm on the market, which artificially elevated farmers' perceptions of the value provided by the stacked GM traits. This was an important tactic for Monsanto, in a context where farmers had hitherto been reluctant to buy the new GM varieties, which they regarded as too expensive because they delivered insignificant management gains and had relatively lower yields (O'Farell 2020).

The monopoly power of a very small number of very large pesticide-seed firmshaspromptedconcernsabouttheir ability to impose high seed prices on farmers. The US Center for Food Safety (2022) has referred to USDA data, which shows that the average cost of soybean seed increased by 60% over the 20 years prior to the introduction of glyphosatetolerant varieties in 1996, then rose by

The average cost of soybean seed increased by 60% over the 20 years prior to the introduction of GM varieties, then rose by 325% in the following 16 years.

325% in the 16 years to 2011. Similar trends were seen for maize and cotton seeds. Other USDA data indicates that seed prices of GM crops increased about three times faster than those of other field crops between 1990⁴ and 2013 (USDA 2023, p. 47).

In principle, higher GM seed prices might be compensated by increases in farm productivity and profits for farmers, however Benbrook (2009) argued that rising GM seed prices have been claiming an ever-greater share, not only of farmers' operating costs, but also of their gross crop income and net returns per acre, suggesting that the increased cost of GM seeds is offsetting any economic benefits they provide—representing a transfer of income from farmers to the pesticide–seed industry. Similarly, the American Antitrust Institute cited USDA data showing that GM seed price increases have outpaced yield increases over time, "the very problem that biotechnology is purportedly designed to solve" (American Antitrust Institute 2022, p. 9).

The size and economic importance of the small number of global pesticide-seed firms also enables them individually to exercise more significant political power over national governments than any single company could in a more diversified seed sector. In Argentina, Monsanto threatened to provide no further access to its GM crop technologies

⁴ GM varieties of major field crops were first commercialised in the USA from 1996 onwards.

until the domestic intellectual property regime was reformed in its favour (Arza & van Zwanenberg 2014).

IMPACTS ON INNOVATION

Decisions to embrace GM crops are likely to have consequences for the overall level of innovative activity in seed breeding, and for the direction and diversity of innovative activity. Those consequences stem indirectly from the commercialisation of GM crops: they are associated with how patentable GM traits have enabled new business models and driven concentration in the seed industry. The large pesticide-seed firms can and do use patents to prevent germplasm that contains their proprietary traits from being used as a basis for further adaptation breeding and crop improvement, whether by other seed firms, public sector breeders, or farmers. This power to exclude stems directly from the income

model of the pesticide-seed industry, which depends on the royalties that patent protection enables. Hitherto, anybody could use any germplasm for breeding purposes and have the right to commercialise the resulting varieties. A reduction in the genetic variation available for plant breeding programmes is likely to drive a decline in the genetic diversity available to farmers in commercial seed varieties (Louwaars, et al. 2009).

The USDA has warned that the increased concentration and economies of scale for dominant companies may pose significant barriers to entry for small and mediumsized enterprises and reduce innovation.

An analysis carried out by USDA economists in the early 2000s found that "[t]hose companies that survived seed industry consolidation appear to be sponsoring less research relative to the size of their individual markets than when more companies were involved." The authors extrapolated that "fewer companies developing crops and marketing seeds may translate into fewer varieties offered" (Fernandez-Cornejo & Schimmelpfennig 2004).

A later study by the USDA (2023) confirmed that consolidation in the seed industry has resulted in fewer and larger companies concentrating research and development in higher volume and higher value seed markets. US farming groups complain that seeds for regional production niches, minor crops and less widespread agricultural systems, which used to constitute viable markets for smaller seed companies, have been neglected (Hubbard 2009; U.S. National Farmers Union 2022). The USDA has warned that increased economies of scale in crop biotechnology implied that "only very large companies can hope to compete in these sectors" and that "taken together, the increased concentration and economies of scale for dominant companies may pose significant barriers to entry for small and medium-sized enterprises and reduce innovation" (USDA 2023, p. 45).

This trend is particularly evident in the large-scale commercial crops where GM technology dominates, such as maize and soybean. In the U.S., almost all the elite germplasm in these key crops is owned by a handful of large pesticide-seed firms. The barriers to entry for a new firm proposing to enter such markets would be staggeringly high. No would-be entrant could replicate quality germplasm—the product of millennia of selection and breeding—without using breeding material controlled by the big firms.

In seed systems dominated by seed patents, the absence of an exemption for farmer seed-saving removes another driver of innovation. In the past, "agriculture has been a field where farmers substantively contributed to developing and improving existing and new plant varieties" (The National Family Farm Coalition, cited in USDA 2023, p. 53). The argument of farmers' associations is that farmers' own practices of seed-saving, selection and cross-breeding have provided an important impetus for seed firms to innovate, since those companies had to regularly introduce valuable genetic improvements that would incentivize farmers to return to the market to purchase new seed, rather than save the previous years' seed (USDA 2023, p. 53).

The USDA has recently expressed its concern that reductions in the number of breeding companies and breeding programmes, and the associated decline in the number of crop varieties being developed for each region of the country, increases the vulnerability of the U.S. agricultural system to major environmental and price shocks. The USDA fears that the lack of crop and varietal diversity may be more pronounced in the U.S. than in other agricultural regions, such as Europe (USDA 2023).

In their recent report, the USDA noted: "We heard from several people knowledgeable about the industry that essentially all the genetic diversity in our current maize crop is available in off-patent lines, meaning that there has been little to no introduction of new genetic diversity to the germplasm pools of the largest companies for at least 20 years. The current genetics have just been continuously recombined and [sic] introduced traits that offer different types of pest and herbicide resistance, with an increasingly narrower genetic base" (USDA 2023, p. 63, emphasis added).

Embracing GM crop technology has also steered the direction of crop innovation. The strategy adopted by the big pesticide-seed firms, to maximise synergies between their pesticide and seed assets, appears to have skewed their research agendas away from breeding for superior disease resistance, for example. The U.S. Center for Food Safety (2022, p. 3) cited field trials data obtained from the Information Systems for Biotechnology at Virginia Tech, which show that field releases of disease-resistant GM crops dropped from about 25–35% of all field releases in the late 1980s and 1990s to about 5% in the 2000s, which was a major phase of pesticide-seed industry consolidation. The Centre for Food Safety's interpretation is that "...the once vigorous efforts to develop disease-resistance traits flagged once the seed firms working on such traits were acquired by the pesticide industry, which saw a conflict with their interests in marketing more fungicide products" (ibid.).

Crop varieties optimised for the best yields in external input-dependent systems are not well suited to low-input systems, such as organic and agroecological farming systems (Murphy et al. 2007). For example, the dominant trend in cereal crop breeding has favoured low nutrient-use efficiency in the presence of high levels of inorganic nitrogen inputs. The resulting varieties do not perform well in farming systems which lack excess nitrogen, such as organic systems. This bias in breeding creates obstacles for the development and growth of alternative cultivation methods and helps to lock-in farmers into high-input farming systems (Lammerts van Bueren et al. 2011; Lammerts van Bueren, et al. 2002; Wolfe et al. 2008).

COMPARATIVE ASSESSMENTS OF AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTIVITY AND SUSTAINABILITY

As described in the preceding sections, GM-fuelled pathways of change in the agri-food sectors of countries where the technology has been embraced—the U.S. in particular, where more evidence is available than elsewhere in the Americas—suggests that pathways of change have been characterised over time by higher seed prices, fewer seed choices, a decline and narrowing in innovative activity, a transfer of income from farmers to input suppliers, a sharp increase in the use of pesticides (especially herbicides), and the emergence of herbicide-resistant weeds across wide areas of agricultural land.

How do these trends compare to regions where GM technology has not been widely adopted, Europe in particular? Unfortunately, detailed comparative studies are rare (EC 2021, p. 126; Mammana 2014, p. 9). More generally, few analyses are available which show how the European agri-food sector has evolved over time along a non-GM pathway.

Seed market consolidation is a global phenomenon, however, the European Commission considers the EU seed market to be much less concentrated compared to the world

seed market and especially in comparison to the U.S. (EC 2015; 2021). Nonetheless, industry concentration within Europe does appear to be increasing over time, with uneven effects-- with the markets for some agricultural

The European Commission considers the EU seed market to be much less concentrated in comparison to the U.S.

seeds being already highly concentrated. For example, Lianos et al. (2016) estimated that five firms controlled 95% of the EU vegetable seed market, whereas five firms controlled just over 50% of the EU maize seed market. The latter estimate contrasts with another estimate by Mammana (2014), who estimated that five companies constituted around three quarters of the EU market for maize seed. The difference in these estimates reflects the difficulty of obtaining reliable, published data on the structure of seed markets in the EU (or elsewhere).

The influence of market concentration on seed prices in the EU is unclear (OECD 2018; EC 2021). The European Commission has noted that European farmers faced an overall increase in seed prices of 30% between 2000 and 2010, but that this overall trend varied across Europe, with some Member States seeing increasing prices and others a decline. The European Commission also noted that market concentration may have an effect on innovation and seed choice, but provided no data on these effects (ibid.).

Two comparative U.S.–European studies of agricultural productivity and aspects of sustainability following the adoption of GM technology in the U.S. have been published in the academic literature. They are informative about the relatively greater diversity of seed choice and intensity of seed innovation in Europe compared to the U.S. In the first of these studies, Heinemann et al. (2013) compared yields of maize, rapeseed, soybean and cotton between North America, where almost all of these four crops are now GM, and Western Europe, where almost all of these four crops are still conventional. Examining data up to 2012, Heinemann and colleagues found no yield advantage or other significant benefit for GM-centric agriculture in the United States compared to the overwhelmingly non-GM systems Europe. They found that GM crops maintained or increased US pesticide

use relative to equally advanced competitors, and that "[t]he pattern and quantities [of pesticide] unique to the use of GM-glyphosate-tolerant crops has been responsible for the selection of glyphosate-tolerant weeds... The use of Bt crops is associated with the emergence of Bt resistance and by novel mechanisms in insect pests" (Heinemann et al 2013, pp. 83-84).

Hilbeck et al. (2011) found a similar picture: during the period of rapid GM crop adoption in the USA, between the mid-1990s and 2011, they found that yields in non-adopting European countries stayed competitive with yields in GM-adopting countries. European maize yields were regularly as high or higher than in the USA, except when European production was undermined by severe drought (Hilbeck et al 2011).

Hilbeck et al. (2011) also compared the availability of maize seed varieties for farmers in three non-GM European countries (Austria, Germany and Switzerland), and Spain, where farmers have unrestricted access to approved GM maize varieties. They found that farmers in the three non-GM countries had more maize cultivars available to them in 2011 than they had in the 1990s, despite restricting GM maize. In Spain, the seed market was more concentrated, with fewer differentiated cultivars on offer. Non-GM cultivars were being replaced by GM cultivars and the overall numbers of maize cultivars declined.

SUMMARY OF PART 1

The commercialisation of GM crop technology in the U.S. and in a small number of other countries, largely in the Americas, has influenced pathways of change in those jurisdictions' agri-food sectors in significant ways, exacerbating the ways those societies have become locked-in to the industrial agriculture pathway that developed after the Second World War. The patentability of GM technology has enabled an oligopolistic seed industry structure to emerge, based on the acquisition of much of the seed industry by a handful of multinational pesticide firms. GM crop technology, coupled with the

extension of patent rights to cover GM crops, has created new, very profitable business models based on developing and licensing engineered gene sequences for incorporation into numerous seed varieties in a handful of important commodity crops. These seeds have been bundled with proprietary herbicides, as well as insecticides and fungicides. Corporate R&D strategies have been designed to support this profit model, creating an innovation bias which favours new crop varieties that are optimised for cultivation alongside pesticides and fertilisers.

The pathway of technological change in GM-adopting countries has led to the disappearance of many small seed firms, constrained access to proprietary germplasm for those firms that remain independent, and a restricted scope for the associated breeding and adaptation.

This pathway of technological change in GM-adopting countries has led to the disappearance of many small seed firms, constrained access to proprietary germplasm for those firms that remain independent, and a restricted scope for the associated breeding and adaptation.

Many non-GM varieties have been withdrawn from markets, and the genetic diversity of the available cultivars has narrowed, increasing the vulnerability of cropping systems. Intensive herbicide spraying has become an essential feature of GM cropping systems and, when herbicide-resistant weeds inevitably emerged, the pesticide-seed industry has responded by proposing GM crop varieties that are resistant to multiple herbicides.

Farmers have increasingly been locked-in to a certain style of farming, which is incompatible with alternative, more ecological approaches. Some farmers, who might otherwise choose non-GM seeds, have felt constrained to adopt HT crops as a precaution against spray drift damage from neighbouring GM farms. Meanwhile, a disproportionate fraction of farm income is being transferred to a handful of input suppliers.

The commercialisation of GM crops has had profound direct effects and indirect ramifications. GM crops have been widely adopted in countries that have embraced them, not chiefly because they are exceptionally productive or profitable for farmers, but because they have been packaged and marketed as part of a business model that generates billions of dollars in royalties for the large agribusiness conglomerates, which combine pesticides and seeds. Farmers and the rest of the seed industry have had to adapt to these structural changes and constraints; they have had little choice other than to rely on and contribute to a system of crop production that has highly problematic consequences for sustainability, in terms of crop biodiversity, ecological health, and the economic prosperity of farmers, rural communities, and small seed firms. This represents a good example of lock-in in action.

PART 2: POTENTIAL IMPLICATIONS OF DEREGULATION OF SOME GMO TECHNOLOGIES IN THE EU

To predict the exact pathways along which gene editing would evolve within EU agriculture and food, in the aftermath of the proposed deregulation, would be impossible. The precise terms of any new regulatory framework governing the commercial use of gene-edited organisms will strongly shape the impacts on different stakeholders, in conjunction with two other major considerations: intellectual property protection, and external trade.

GMOs created by SDN-1, SDN-2 and ODM techniques are being patented at international and national/EU levels (Jefferson et al 2021). The evolving patent landscape is dynamic and complicated. It involves a multitude of public and private organisations and claims.

The stacking of complex traits is generating concerns that "patent thickets" and "patent minefields" are emerging, which threaten to entangle the sector in complex litigation, negotiation and crosslicensing (Kock 2021). Institutional solutions, such as patent "pools" or "clubs," "clearing houses," opensource licences and IP donations

There are concerns that "patent thickets" and "patent minefields" could entangle the sector in complex litigation, negotiation and cross-licensing.

are being proposed and explored. Whether or not these arrangements are instituted, patents look set to remain the key instruments of intellectual property regulation in this space, and in such a scenario, we expect the market power dynamics described above, with respect to countries where GM crops have been embraced, to continue.

Several of the EU's most important trading partners (including the USA, Argentina, Brazil and Australia) have recently exempted certain GMOs from their biosafety regulatory frameworks that govern transgenic technologies. At the World Trade Organisation, GM-adopting countries have been arguing that regulatory approaches should be "science-and risk-based, transparent, predictable, timely, and consistent with relevant international trade obligations" (WTO 2018, section 2.3). Whilst the regulatory approaches taken across the world are not uniform, and unilateral deregulation of gene-edited organisms in the EU would not guarantee frictionless international trade in these commodities, we assume that deregulation would lower barriers to both inward and outward trade in the affected GMOs.

Based on the above assumptions, we consider potential scenarios that might flow from deregulation in the EU, and explore the potential impacts on different EU stakeholders—including multinational agri-businesses, start-up enterprises, seed companies and farmers—that are involved in gene-editing, conventional food and farming sectors, and organic and agroecological sectors.

POTENTIAL IMPACTS ON MULTINATIONAL PESTICIDE-SEED BUSINESSES

Multinational agri-businesses, in particular the largest four pesticide-seed firms (Bayer, Corteva, ChemChina and BASF), benefit from being able to operate in similar ways across global markets. Deregulation in the EU market would enable these companies to further increase economies of scale in their operations, and further lock-in the pathways described above.

Under a scenario in which navigating entangled thickets and minefields of patents becomes essential to doing business, the market power of the Big Four pesticide-seed firms seems likely to increase even further. Innovating and bringing improved varieties to the market will be constrained by the need to assemble critical pieces of intellectual property. The more complex the genetic modification—involving multiple, stacked traits—the more complex and potentially costly the intellectual property licences could be. Only those (large) firms that possess the requisite legal resources will be able to overcome such constraints with relative ease. They are strongly positioned to benefit most from the emerging patent landscape, not only because they have the resources to acquire patents and licences and have large legal departments, but also because they can use their own patent portfolios as chips to bargain for access to intellectual property owned by other players in the sector. Each of the Big Four firms has secured licences to foundational patents on CRISPR that are owned by The Broad Institute (Global 2000 et al. 2022). The patent landscape for CRISPR applied to crop plants appears to be dominated by Corteva, at least up till 2020 (Testbiotech 2021).

In theory, regulatory policies restricting pesticides and other synthetic inputs in European farming could incentivise large pesticide-seed firms to turn away from their

current strategies of bundling seeds with agrochemicals. However, despite longstanding commitments to reduce pesticide consumption in the EU, there are few signs of progress (European Court of Auditors 2020). The most recent attempt—to establish a target to reduce pesticide use by 50% within a revised Sustainable Use of Pesticides Directive—has been delayed and may be

Despite long-standing commitments to reduce pesticide consumption in the EU, there are few signs of progress.

diluted, following strong resistance from the pesticide industry, farmers organisations, parts of the Commission, and many Member States (Bounds 2022).

The first crop produced using CRISPR that was submitted for approval under EU Regulation 1829/2003 was DowDupont/Corteva's Maize DP915635, which is resistant to the herbicide glufosinate. This example (as well as the example of Cibus' 5715 HT rapeseed (canola), which has been commercialised elsewhere) casts some doubt on the claim that gene editing is being used to move away from chemical-dependent farming and improve the environmental performance of agriculture.

As discussed in Part 1, regulatory costs for GMO clearance have entailed significant costs, which may have acted as a barrier to entry for small seed firms (NAS 2016). Large multinational firms possess the financial resources and technical capabilities needed to comply with these regulations. They can also leverage this investment across the

multiple markets where they operate, thus benefiting from economies of scale in regulatory science—while also keeping their regulatory data confidential, in a similar way to trade secrets, so that other firms cannot take advantage of it. It is plausible that, if deregulation were to occur in the EU—the multinational pesticide–seed firms' comparative advantage in regulatory compliance would be reduced, which in theory would open them up to increased competition from other public and private entities. The likelihood of this happening is discussed in the next section.

POTENTIAL IMPLICATIONS FOR EU ENTITIES INVOLVED IN GENE EDITING

A number of smaller firms, research institutes and other organisations have capabilities in gene editing and are making investments in research to improve crop yields or the nutritional profile or processing qualities of crops, or to enhance resilience to biotic and abiotic stresses—alongside a smaller proportion of investment targeting herbicide tolerance (Modrzejewski et al 2019; Jorasch 2020). There exists a theoretical potential that gene editing would be used to develop traits that could disrupt existing patterns of chemical-intensive agriculture and contribute to the EU's wider goals around sustainable agriculture and food and nutrition security. However, the technical capabilities for

developing traits like these are only a small subset of the capabilities required to bring such products to market. In most cases, small firms or public sector breeders would be obliged to partner with, or license their intellectual property to, larger firms that would navigate the regulatory, marketing and distribution challenges involved in successful commercialisation. The power to make or break the commercial success of such gene-edited crops would, in many cases, depend ultimately on the willingness

Small firms or public sector breeders would be obliged to partner with, or license their intellectual property to, larger firms that would navigate the challenges involved in successful commercialisation.

of the big pesticide-seed firms to invest in and promote them. Therefore traits such as disease resistance and nutritional improvement might well end up being stacked with the large firms' proprietary HT traits in order to reach the market. Large firms are capable of acquiring smaller firms that develop intellectual property assets that would enhance their existing portfolios, or could threaten their business models. This would reinforce a "world as we know it" scenario (Kock 2021), in which multinationals remain dominant.

Public sector organisations, such as universities, are also among those acquiring intellectual property around gene-edited crops. This has led to calls for such organisations to waive gene editing licences for non-commercial activities to help "meet food needs in low income countries", with Wageningen University in the Netherlands setting a precedent in this regard (Van Oost and Fresco 2021). Often, however, patents represent an obstacle to public-good research. As the breeders' exemption does not apply in the context of patented seed, independent researchers and breeders can be prevented from innovating with patented gene-edited varieties, even before they attempt to bring the resultant products to market. For a variety of reasons (explored by Vanloqueren and Baret 2010),

research and development systems continue to be constituted in ways that favour the production of patentable knowledge and GM technologies, rather than more open-source insights that can more readily be applied in agro-ecological farming. Deregulating some GMOs will not alter this situation in the EU.

POTENTIAL IMPACTS ON CONVENTIONAL SEED COMPANIES, FARMERS, FOOD PROCESSORS/ MANUFACTURERS, RETAILERS AND CONSUMERS IN THE EU

The deregulation of SDN-1, SDN-2 and ODM types of gene editing in the EU is likely to remove the need for labelling and traceability of these products. This would hinder segregation and traceability, undermine transparency, remove the freedom to choose GM-free products along the supply chain, and eliminate the possibility of long-term monitoring of unintended effects. This would have major implications for all actors in the food chain that currently avoid GMOs—including conventional seed companies, farmers, food processors/ manufacturers, retailers or consumers. Experiences with the earlier generation of GMOs have demonstrated that these are key concerns for European consumers and other supply-chain actors, leading to the current EU context, in which negligible GMO cultivation takes place.

Experience with the earlier generation of GMOs has illustrated the challenges, modalities and costs of various approaches to co-existence at different stages along the supply chain (Bertheau et al 2009; Venus et al 2017). In the current context in the EU, where labelling of GM food products is required, a segregated market has developed, in which most dominant retailers avoid the presence of GM food ingredients above the 0.9% threshold. Non-GM material attracts a price premium, and labelling has been sufficient to disincentivise GM farming across most of the EU.

Where feed imports are required to sustain livestock production, the development and maintenance of a non-GM supply chain has required extensive efforts by initiatives such as the GMO-free Regions Network, which has linked livestock producers in Europe with non-GM soya suppliers in America, Asia, and Eastern Europe (Layadi 2012). The challenges of maintaining a food- and feed-supply system free of GMOs would be further exacerbated if the EU follows other countries, such as the USA, Argentine, Brazil and Canada, which export to the EU, in permitting the cultivating and trade of gene-edited products, as well as "classical" GMOs.

The difficulties of segregating GM and non-GM supply chains and maintaining traceability are significantly increased with gene-edited products, because detection technologies and methods are currently non-existent, unproven, unreliable and/or costly. The costs and difficulties usually fall on the non-GM producers, processors, retailers and consumers. PCR-based approaches, which are commonly used to detect transgenic products, can be used to detect known sequences in gene-edited products (for example, Chhalliyil et al [2020] developed a quantitative PCR test to identify Cibus' gene-edited canola), but the design of such tests relies on having reliable information about the sequence to be detected. There have been calls for a mandatory international registry of biotech products to be established, which would provide a reference for testing and detection

methods (Eckersdorfer et al 2019; Ribarits et al 2021). No such registry yet exists that provides adequate, authoritative and comprehensive information that would support systematic testing.

The reliability of PCR tests also depends on whether similar genetic sequences exist in other varieties of the same species (Chhalliyil 2020b) or even other species (Weidner et al 2022)—if such similarities do exist, these tests can produce false positive results.

Emerging technologies that employ bioinformatics approaches are claimed to provide a "straightforward, rapid means" (Ginkgo Bioworks 2022) of identifying who is using whose intellectual property. Technologies like these could potentially be developed and adapted to screen samples for the adventitious presence of gene-edited products in food and feed supply chains, however, the practical utility and eventual cost of these emerging approaches is still unclear.

Existing approaches to traceability in some food and feed supply chains rely on stringent and reliable record-keeping throughout the chain, rather than enforcement based on detection of genetic sequences. These kinds of traceability systems are used in specialised value chains, such as organic, halal, fair trade, and non-GMO. Consumer demand for product segregation and labelling justifies the introduction of public or private standards to ensure the separation of supply chains, potentially at significant cost—and these costs often fall on the producers and consumers who demand and value the separation.

There is a demand within the EU food system for products that exclude all forms of genetic modification—e.g. organic, agro-ecological and non-GM foods. Sustaining a diversified agrifood system that supports these There is a demand within the EU food system for products that exclude all forms of genetic modification.

alternatives, and protects European consumers' right to choose may justify significant efforts on the part of EU authorities. Further studies would help to clarify the costs and benefits of the range of policy options available to address these issues, in a context of ever-changing technologies.

POTENTIAL IMPACTS ON ORGANIC AND AGROECOLOGICAL SECTORS

The organic farming sector has been growing rapidly in Europe, with a 50% increase in organic farming from 2012 to 2020. Consumer demand in the EU for organic products doubled between 2015 and 2020. The Farm to Fork Strategy aims to increase the organic market share from its current level of about 9.1% to 25% by 2030 (EC 2023). There are many other farms which are not certified organic, but which farm in ways that aim to be ecologically sustainable or regenerative. These farms tend to be smaller in size, and they often supply local markets. The use of GM (including gene editing) is not permitted within the EU organic food and farming sector (Regulation 2018/848) and is opposed by European social movements promoting agroecology (Levidow & Boschert, 2008, ECVC 2018).

In this context, what will the proposed GM deregulation imply for the organic and agroecological farming and food sectors in the EU? Three main pathways could restrict the growth of organic and agroecological production: (i) reducing the availability of seeds appropriate for these production systems; (ii) increased costs and risks from cross-contamination of GM and non-GM seeds, crops and foods; and (iii) an increased use of herbicides and pesticides in GM production systems.

The continued availability of existing organic plant varieties and the development of new organic varieties are vital for the organic, agroecological and non-GM food and farming sectors to thrive in Europe. A lack of investment in plant breeding for low-input systems is a significantly limiting factor in the development and growth of these sectors (Fess et al., 2011; Malandrin and Dvortsin, 2013). In accordance with European Organic Regulation 2018/848, the use of non-organic seed in organic agriculture is due to be phased out by 2036. Demand for organic seed currently outstrips supply in Europe (Solfanelli et al., 2022), and a Delegated Act allows for the use of seedlings and seeds originating from conventional seed and parent plants in cases where no organic planting material exists (Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2022/474). The use of non-organic seed in the organic sector has increased in recent years (Solfanelli et al., 2022), as the supply of organic seed has not met demand. This mismatch has been blamed on organic breeders lacking accurate data about demand for specific kinds of organic seeds (i.e. by crop, variety and location), as well as the relatively low economic returns available from organic breeding (Solfanelli et al 2019). As discussed in Part 1, the narrow profit margins in organic seed reflect the historical pattern for the seed industry as a whole in the days before patented seeds were integrated with proprietary agrichemicals in a consolidated pesticide-seed sector. To achieve the EU's policy objectives to promote organic farming, public funding may be required to support the organic seed sector and ensure that supply more accurately meets demand (Solfanelli et al 2019). Market forces are currently driving the seed sector in the opposite direction, as described in Part 1.

GM deregulation could exacerbate this problem, since it would likely intensify the concentration of the seed industry. If smaller seed firms are bought out by larger firms or go out of business, a likely consequence is a narrowing the genetic diversity of seeds and

a decline in the availability of organic seeds. This would be a problem in itself for the organic seed industry—there are currently over 800 businesses in Europe that supply organic seeds (Solfanelli et al 2019). It would also significantly impact organic farmers.

Conventional varieties available to farmers tend not to perform well under organic or agroecological conditions.

As discussed in Part 1, farmers in countries of Europe which adopted GM have had less choice of seed varieties than those in EU countries which have remained GM free (Hilbeck et al. 2013). Further, given that the overall seed sector has developed in favour of varieties that depend on intensive applications of pesticides and mineral fertilisers, the conventional varieties available to farmers tend not to perform well under organic or agroecological conditions (Lammerts van Bueren et al. 2011).

GM deregulation could also affect the seed varieties available to organic and agroecological producers if GM material mixes or crosses with cultivars and populations intended for organic cultivation. Recent EU rules (Regulation EU 2021/1189) have permitted the use and marketing of "organic heterogeneous material," in recognition of the ability of varietal diversity to support organic and agroecological agricultural practices. Commercial seed varieties normally have to comply with requirements for distinctness, uniformity and stability (DUS), but organic

heterogeneous material is characterised by a high level of phenotypic and genetic diversity and is dynamic, rather than stable in nature. Heterogeneity allows for greater resilience, through a "not all eggs in one basket" approach. For example, a field cultivated with 200 varieties of wheat, rather than just one DUS variety, results in improved yield stability and reliability in the context of unpredictable factors such as drought, rust (a plant disease), or other challenging growing conditions (Döring et al., 2015).

Heterogeneity of cultivars and populations also allows plants to evolve and adapt over time to different growing and climatic conditions (Costanzo and Bàrberi 2016; Döring et al. 2015; Weedon and Finckh 2019). The development and maintenance of heterogeneous material therefore offers an important pathway, both for supporting agroecological and organic farming and for enabling the entire farming sector to adapt to climate change, which may bring new or increased pests, diseases, invasive weeds and climatic shocks (Calzadilla et al. 2013; Ceccarelli and Grando 2020; Evans et al. 2008). Further, heterogenous cultivars and populations lend themselves to participatory and farmer-led plant breeding strategies, and enable crop varieties to be tailored to the specific needs of different farmers and sites, in ways that seed varieties meeting DUS criteria often cannot (Almekinders and Louwaars 1999).

Deregulation of GMOs could significantly threaten the availability and quality of heterogeneous material. This is because the natural evolutionary processes that are encouraged among heterogeneous cultivars and populations, which benefit from seed mixtures and adventitious cross breeding, imply that these types of crops are at higher

risk of incorporating gene-edited material, unless the latter are carefully segregated. Cross-contamination of genetic material from gene-edited crops could result in irreversible consequences for heterogeneous cultivars and populations, for example,

Deregulation of GMOs could significantly threaten the availability and quality of heterogeneous material.

certain alleles can be quickly lost when not maintained, or if the population decreases below a certain size (Hodgkin et al. 2007, Louette, 2005). This has been experienced in Mexico, where heterogenous maize cultivars, which had been developed and maintained over thousands of years, were irreversibly altered by introgression with transgenic material (Dyer et al. 2009; Quist and Chapela 2001).

Cross-contamination of non-GM and GM crops has been documented in 63 countries (Price & Cotter, 2014). It can occur through pollen transfer, seed mixing, and post-harvest crop processing (Knispel and McLachlan 2010). It can affect both self-pollinated (e.g. oilseed rape) and cross-pollinated crop species (e.g. maize). Cross-contamination can sometimes be lessened through careful spatial arrangement and separation of GM crops and non-GM crops (Belcher, Nolan, and Phillips 2005). However, if GM crop regulations do not specifically require segregation then cross-contamination is liable, sooner or later, to occur. When it happens, the question arises—who bears the cost of cleaning up, and who gets compensated?

Cross-contamination of GM and non-GM germplasm has significant financial implications for the organic and non-GM food and farming sectors. Organic producers rely on price premiums to meet higher costs of ecological production. A 2008 study estimated the economic cost of GM cross-contamination to the organic sector, based on an analysis of 15 cases of cross-contamination between GM and organic crops. It found considerable financial losses to organic producers and food companies due to lost sales, lost markets, lost certifications and negative publicity (Hewlett and Aziz 2008). A deregulation of new GM technologies could be detrimental to this significant and growing sector, in that non-GM producers generally bear the costs for product segregation and monitoring. These costs would significantly increase were new GM technologies to be deregulated, because new GM technologies might be more difficult to test for, and because of the lack of protocols for reducing the risks of cross-contamination.

Another way in which organic and agroecological sectors could be impacted by deregulation of gene editing is if GM cultivation stimulates an increase in agrochemical inputs. As discussed in Part 1, most GM crops in use to date have entailed higher rates of herbicide use. Herbicide "drift" can result in crop losses and sometimes loss of certification for organic, non-GM and agroecological producers (Ory, 2017). Additionally, pesticide and herbicide use negatively impacts soil microbiology for decades after these products have been used, because chemical residues can remain in soils. The presence of these residues can make it hard for farmers to obtain organic certification in the future (Riedo et al., 2021).

SUMMARY OF PART 2

In sum, organic, agroecological and non-GM seed businesses, farmers, processors, retailers and consumers may be negatively affected by a more widespread usage of GM technologies in European agriculture. Deregulation would likely shape technological pathways by further compromising the supply of varieties and seeds appropriate for

organic, agroecological and non-GM production, by increasing the risk of cross-contamination of GM and non-GM products, by increasing the intensity of herbicide- and pesticide-use in agricultural areas, and discouraging farmers from transitioning to organic and non-GM production. An agricultural sector dominated by proprietary GM crops would likely undermine innovation

Organic, agroecological and non-GM seed businesses, farmers, processors, retailers and consumers may be negatively affected by a more widespread usage of GM technologies.

and reduce diversity of varieties available, which would compromise the resilience and ability of agriculture in the context of climate change. The deregulated use of GM crops in the EU therefore risks undermining key EU policy goals, such as of the Farm to Fork Strategy. The next section addresses these possible ramifications.

PART 3: ANALYSIS

The proposed deregulation of some kinds of GMOs in the EU is likely to have important, although uncertain, consequences for pathways of change in the European agri-food sector, and in turn for the wider sustainability of agricultural and food systems in the EU. Before reflecting on what those pathways of change might look like, it is important to recall the food and agriculture sustainability ambitions that are sought by wider EU policy.

The European Commission's proposal for a European Green Deal was launched at the end of 2019. The Green Deal is Europe's response to the imperatives contained in the United Nations 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and, above all, to the existential challenges posed by climate breakdown and the accelerating collapse in global biodiversity. The Green Deal seeks to "transform" the EU by putting European societies and economies onto pathways towards net zero emissions by 2050, a circular economy, the elimination of pollution, and the protection and restoration of biodiversity.

A key component of the Green Deal is the Commission's 2020 Farm to Fork Strategy. The Strategy aims to create a "fair, healthy, and environmentally friendly food system" (European Commission 2020). It sets out a range of objectives, targets and associated actions to "accelerate our transition to a sustainable food system". The targets are concrete and ambitious: to reduce the use and risks of chemical pesticides by 50%, reduce fertiliser consumption by 20%, dedicate a quota of 25% of EU arable land to organic farming, and reduce sales of antimicrobials by 50%–all to be achieved by 2030.

Beyond those targets, the Farm to Fork Strategy is more abstract. What might constitute a "sustainable food system" is not clearly specified. Instead, the Commission explains that a sustainable food system should enable, amongst other things, a neutral or positive environmental impact; mitigation of and adaptation to climate change; a reversal of biodiversity loss; food security, nutrition and public health; fairer economic returns; the competitiveness of the EU supply sector; and the promotion of fair trade. This lack of clarity has likely enabled the Commission to find agreement amongst diverse food system actors, who have fundamentally different ideas about what future food system they envision, and how to get there (Schebesta & Candel 2020). On topics such as biotechnology, the Farm to Fork Strategy says little.

Given the ambiguity within the Farm to Fork Strategy as to what a sustainable food system should actually look like, and the backlash that has already greeted some of the Strategy's proposals, there are likely to be contending claims about what kinds of technologies and practices will constitute sustainable pathways of change for European food and agriculture. Much of the agrochemical industry and some governments are likely to advocate a "sustainable intensification" pathway, based on technologies such as gene-edited crops, precision agriculture, and Big Data. Other groups are likely to advocate an "ecological agriculture" pathway, based on the diffusion of low external input agroecological practices. Debates about the possible merits and drawbacks of deregulation of gene edited crops will likely pivot around this wider question—the desired directions and outcomes for European agriculture. In Parts 1 and 2 of this document, we have taken a retrospective and prospective approach to understanding what could be the likely effects of a turn towards gene editing in the EU.

Part 1 discussed pathways of change in agri-food systems in countries where GM crops have been embraced, concentrating on the USA. In GM-adopting countries, it is difficult to see how the evolving characteristics of agri-food systems would be compatible with most of the targets and ambitions set out in the Farm to Fork Strategy. The scope for shifting those GM-centric pathways in more sustainable directions is also reducing as small seed firms disappear, available seed varieties are reduced in number, farmers' choices are eroded, crop diversity is diminished, and the power of incumbent pesticide-seed firms to influence public policy increases. Along such a pathway of change, the kinds of ambitions set out in the Farm to Fork Strategy would become increasingly difficult to envisage, let alone attain.

In short, GM-influenced pathways of change in settings such as the U.S. are rendering agriculture more dependent on a pesticide- and fertiliser-intensive, monoculture-based production model, and are further eroding the agency, autonomy and incomes of farmers and smaller firms in the seed Along a GM-centric pathway of change, the kinds of ambitions set out in the Farm to Fork Strategy would become increasingly difficult to attain.

sector. These GM-centric pathways are further locking in the unsustainable agricultural and food system pathways that evolved after the Second World War—which the European Green Deal and the Farm to Fork Strategy are explicitly intended to transform.

Part 2 sketched out plausible pathways of change that could lead from the deregulation of gene-edited crops in the EU. Large multinational pesticide-seed firms would likely benefit from deregulation as their markets for gene edited crops would expand, and economies of scale and scope would become available. This would likely imply further lock-in to the kinds of industrial agricultural pathways that are already prevalent in Europe, as smaller seed firms were outcompeted or acquired by larger firms—a scenario that the Farm to Fork Strategy is intended to move away from.

Superficially, deregulation would benefit smaller firms and public sector research institutes that want to carry out gene-editing research and potentially commercialise gene-edited organisms. In reality, there would still be formidable obstacles to bringing onto the market new kinds of crop innovations that might better support a more sustainable agricultural system. Even in the absence of regulatory expenses, small firms would have to partner with (or licence their IP to) larger firms, in order to navigate the contractual, marketing and distribution challenges involved in successful commercialisation. As happened with the earlier wave of GM crop innovations, the initial promise of diverse gene-edited traits and crops could converge on a handful of traits and crops with large potential markets advantage of.

For conventional seed companies, farmers, food processors and manufacturers, retailers and consumers, the deregulation of gene editing is likely to entail losing the freedom to choose to produce, trade in and/or purchase non-gene edited products—or being obliged to pay for the infrastructure necessary to maintain segregated supply chains and sustain the right to choose.

For the organic and agroecological farming sectors, deregulation of gene edited crops is likely to be detrimental to growth. More innovation, organic breeding and heterogenous

cultivars are needed to support these sectors, but GM deregulation could instead lead to further seed-sector consolidation, a narrowing of varieties available to farmers, and a permanent loss of important genetic diversity in varieties and breeding populations. As discussed in Part 2, the EU has recently legislated to enable the circulation of heterogeneous planting materials when they are destined for use in organic and agroecological farming systems, by providing an exemption to the DUS requirements for seed—an explicit recognition of the value of varietal diversity for climate resilience and its appropriateness for low-input, ecological cultivation methods. Seed sector consolidation would likely undermine the intent of that regulation, because it would likely lead to a reduction in the availability of diverse varieties.

As discussed in Part 2, organic, agroecological and non-GM producers in the EU would also be adversely affected, as a result of gene edited crop diffusion, by increased risks of cross-contamination. This would result in higher monitoring costs, losses of sales, and potential loss of certification for farms, processors and food companies, while increased agrochemical usage could both contaminate existing organic and agroecological farms and make it harder for farms to transition to organic methods in the future, because of the persistence of agrochemical residues in soils and the risks of organic farming in proximity to chemical farming. This is another example of lock-in. Intensive use of herbicides and pesticides in GM agriculture could compromise long-term transitions towards more ecological and sustainable farming systems by stifling pathways towards organic and agroecological cultivation practices.



CONCLUSION

A decision to deregulate certain kinds of GMOs in the EU would be a consequential policy choice, which would shape future pathways and possibilities for the EU's agrifood system over the long-term. In this paper, we have used a pathways approach to analyse the possible consequences for agricultural and food systems in Europe.

Deregulation of gene edited crops and foods could have wide and long-term implications, not only for the use of specific crop biotechnologies in farming and food production in Europe, but for the broader sustainable and equitable development of European agri-food systems. The breadth and significance of those implications calls for further

A decision to deregulate certain kinds of GMOs would shape future pathways and possibilities for the EU's agrifood system over the long-term.

democratic debates and parliamentary scrutiny around future regulatory frameworks for gene editing techniques.

This report has examined how, in countries that have opted for permissive regulation of GMOs, various social, economic and institutional factors have helped to lock agriculture into an unsustainable system pathway. Recent analyses of the regulation of transgenic crops over previous decades (Ely et al. 2022) have shown how regulatory frameworks themselves have been subject to lock-in dynamics, which are difficult to reverse or change on the basis of emerging evidence; the US "product-based" approach and the EU's "process-based" approach have both constrained the potential for policy changes over decades, despite political and technological developments. The proposal to deregulate some classes of gene-edited GMOs would constitute a substantial change to the existing regulatory and policy landscape in the EU, which can be expected to have significant and hard-to-reverse implications over the following decades. Such a move calls for prudent, careful, circumspect consideration that looks beyond the level of individual crop, food and feed products, to the wider social, economic and institutional relationships and systems in which they are embedded.

Calls to deregulate GMOs in the EU are typically grounded within a discourse of risk for the EU—fears of a loss of competitiveness in science and agriculture, of a decline of innovative activity, of falling behind in a global technological race, of missing out on technologies that can solve the major environmental and societal challenges that face European society. But have the USA and other GM-adopting countries gained a decisive advantage over the EU through embracing GMOs? Evidence to support such a conclusion is mixed, to say the least. We have reviewed international experiences with the cultivation of GM crops and the wider impacts which GM agriculture has had on the productivity, structure and sustainability of agriculture and food systems. A broad view, through the lenses of political economy and sustainability, certainly does not support the view that GM crops have enabled the USA to gain a decisive advantage over Europe.

Agrifood systems on both sides of the Atlantic face enormous challenges. Conventional agricultural production in both regions is heavily dependent on pesticides and fossil fuels. A balanced review does not support a simplistic conclusion that GMOs are essential for, or even that they are necessarily connected to, improvements in agricultural production,

sustainable development, innovation, competitiveness, or other socially valuable outcomes. On the contrary, the record is quite mixed, with numerous shortcomings and downsides associated with GMOs in agriculture, including corporate concentration, declining biodiversity, and negative impacts for particular stakeholders (such as businesses and consumers in organic, agroecological and non-GM sectors). The observed effects are not solely due to GM technology but to regulatory and policy frameworks and the political economy of agribusiness, farming and food with which they are linked. As such, we have shown how the introduction of patented GM technologies has in various ways exacerbated and further locked in the unsustainable industrial agriculture pathway that developed after the Second World War.

Claims and expectations that gene-edited crops will resolve serious sustainability problems represent a return to a rhetoric of the 1990s, when companies and scientists championed similar claims about the previous generation of GMOs– setting up hopes which have not been realised in practice. Gene editing is associated with a business model, based on patents, which will likely promote a political economy in plant breeding and seed systems that reinforces the current oligopolistic position of large pesticide– seed companies at the expense of smaller

Claims that gene-edited crops will resolve serious sustainability problems represent a return to a rhetoric of the 1990s, when companies and scientists championed similar claims about the previous generation of GMOs.

seed firms and farmers. It remains likely that firms that develop and commercialise geneedited crops will use their market power to build in herbicide tolerance, entrench herbicide use, and reinforce established systems of monocultural production on specialised farms, which will further concentrate power, undermine varietal diversity and biodiversity, and undermine climate resilience.

What implications does this raise for current decisions around the possible deregulation of some GMOs in the EU? A pathways approach (described in Box 1) is sensitive to the 4Ds, which can help policy makers, legislators and voters to avoid or mitigate locking our agricultural and food systems into unsustainable pathways. The EU's policies and regulatory frameworks governing GMOs can help to steer agricultural and food system pathways in sustainable or unsustainable **directions**-towards sustainability in multiple dimensions, including nutrition, food security, climate mitigation and resilience and biodiversity, or towards the further entrenchment of industrial farming systems, fossil fuel dependence, impoverished biodiversity and barren rural landscapes. Attending to distribution means ensuring that we do not systematically exclude or marginalise smallscale producers, family farmers, innovative food businesses, non-GM and agroecological producers, and organic and GM-free consumers. Diversifying pathways helps to ensure that we do not "place all our eggs in one basket," by supporting diverse and alternative innovations that could contribute to the wider objectives of EU agri-environment policy. Promoting **democratic** legitimacy means ensuring that the potential consequences of regulatory change are debated in public forums and inclusive deliberations, not determined by technocrats, bureaucrats, lawyers, or corporate lobbyists.

Policies governing GM crops in the EU should be aligned with wider ambitions and goals to change the **direction** of European agri-food systems, including the Farm to Fork strategy and its associated targets for reduced greenhouse gas emissions and pesticide use, enhanced biodiversity, organic agriculture, and fair economic returns for primary producers. The reorientation of European agri-food systems, which is necessary to achieve these objectives, requires a turn away from existing pathways of industrial agriculture, into which European and global agriculture have in recent decades become increasingly locked. This implies adopting policies that disrupt the incumbent power of multinational pesticide-seed firms and providing support instead for alternative approaches that are better aligned with the Farm to Fork strategy.

The **distribution** of costs, benefits and risks associated with gene editing under different policy options is a complex matter. The analysis above has shown how implications differ for the various stakeholder groups affected, but the detail of any proposed regulatory changes (as well as intellectual property and trade conditions) will play a decisive role. Policy questions should be asked about appropriate impact monitoring frameworks, mechanisms for compensation and redress, biosafety risk assessments, and so on, and about how the costs should be borne, and by whom.

Policy makers and regulators could choose to consider a range of alternative regulatory options that may be available, which could open up **diverse** innovation pathways. For example, there are concerns throughout industry that intellectual property rights could restrict access to technologies in the agricultural sector. Legislators could consider the possibility that alternative rules could allow easier access to technologies, so as to avoid some of the negative scenarios that have unfolded in GM agriculture. They might also consider rules that protect and support alternative pathways that currently do not include (GM or) gene editing technologies, but would suffer negative consequences from their deregulation.

Finally, the potential consequences of the proposed deregulation of some kinds of GMOs in the EU raise important questions for **democratic** decisionmaking and accountability, which are often neglected by technocratic processes or regulatory impact assessments. Decisions taken today will have long-term, systemic impacts, The negative effects on stakeholders such as non-GM growers, organic seed companies, agroecological farmers, and consumers should be taken into account.

which will go beyond the safety of individual traits, products or technologies, or impacts that can be quantified in purely economic terms. A wider array of impacts and effects should be taken into account, especially the negative effects on some stakeholders, who are likely to be disempowered in the longer term-such as non-GM growers, organic seed companies, agroecological farmers, and consumers. This calls for more substantial democratic inputs and deliberation than have informed the Commission's proposal for new GMOs to date. The current juncture provides an opportunity structure (Ely et al 2022) for an inclusive and democratic discussion about the implications of gene-edited crop deregulation, rather than narrow and technocratic discussion informed by restrictive regulatory impact assessments.

REFERENCES

- Almeida, V. E. S. de, K. Friedrich, A. F. Tygel, et al. 2017. Use of Genetically Modified Crops and Pesticides in Brazil: Growing Hazards. *Ciência & Saúde Coletiva* Vol. 22, pp. 3333–3339.
- Almekinders, C., and N. Louwaars. 1999. *Farmers' Seed Production. New Approaches and Practices.* London: IT publications.
- American Antitrust Institute. 2022. Comments of the American Antitrust Institute. Submission to USDA Hearing on 'Competition and the Intellectual Property System: Seeds and Other Agricultural Inputs', Docket No. AMS-AMS-22-0025. Available at: <u>https://www.regulations.gov/docket/AMS-AMS-22-0025/comments</u>
- Araus J.J., Serret M.D. and M. S. Lopes. 2019. Transgenic solutions to increase yield and stability in wheat: Shining hope or flash in the pan? *Journal of Experimental Botany* 70: 1419–1424. doi: 10.1093/jxb/erz07
- Arza V. and Van Zwanenberg P. 2014. The Politics of Technological Upgrading: International Transfer to and Adaptation of GM Cotton in Argentina, *World Development*, 59: 521–34.
- Belcher, Ken, James Nolan, and Peter W. B. Phillips. 2005. Genetically Modified Crops and Agricultural Landscapes: Spatial Patterns of Contamination. *Ecological Economics* 53(3): 387–401.
- Benbrook, C.M. 2009. The magnitude and impacts of the biotech and organic seed price premium. The Organic Center, USA.
- Benbrook, C.M. 2012. Impacts of genetically engineered crops on pesticide use in the U.S. the first sixteen years. *Environmental Science Europe,* Vol. 24
- Bertheau, Y. 2009. Final Report: COEXTRA GM and non-GM supply chains: their CO-Existence and Traceability, 13 November 2009, Versailles: Institut National de Ia Recherche Agronomique (INRA).
- Bonny, Sylvie. 2016. Genetically Modified Herbicide-Tolerant Crops, Weeds, and Herbicides: Overview and Impact. *Environmental Management* 57 (1):31-48. doi: 10.1007/s00267-015-0589-7.
- Bounds, A. 2022. EU delays cut in pesticide use over food output fears. *Financial Times,* September 13, 2022.
- Calzadilla, A. et al. 2013. Climate Change Impacts on Global Agriculture. *Climatic Change* 120(1–2).

- Campbell, B. M., D. J. Beare, E. M. Bennett, J. M. Hall-Spencer, J. S. I. Ingram, F. Jaramillo, R. Ortiz, N. Ramankutty, J. A. Sayer, and D. Shindell. 2017. Agriculture production as a major driver of the Earth system exceeding planetary boundaries. *Ecology* and Society 22 (4):8. doi: 10.5751/ES-09595-220408.
- Carrière, Yves, Zachary S. Brown, Sharon J. Downes, Govind Gujar, Graham Epstein, Celso Omoto, Nicholas P. Storer, David Mota-Sanchez, Peter Søgaard Jørgensen, and Scott P. Carroll. 2020. Governing evolution: A socioecological comparison of resistance management for insecticidal transgenic Bt crops among four countries. *Ambio* 49 (1):1-16. doi: 10.1007/s13280-019-01167-0.
- Ceccarelli, Salvatore, and Stefania Grando. 2020. Organic Agriculture and Evolutionary Populations to Merge Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies to Fight Climate Change. *South Sustainability* 1(2): e013–e013.
- Ceccarelli, Salvatore. 2014. GM Crops, Organic Agriculture and Breeding for Sustainability. *Sustainability* 6 (7): 4273-4286. doi:10.3390/su6074273.
- Center for Food Safety. 2022. Submission to USDA Hearing on 'Competition and the Intellectual Property System: Seeds and Other Agricultural Inputs', May 16, 2022, Docket No. AMS-AMS-22-0025. Available at: <u>https://www.regulations.gov/docket/AMS-AMS-22-0025/comments</u>
- Chhalliyil, P., Ilves, H., Kazakov, S. A.Howard, S. J., Johnston, B. H. and J. Fagan. 2020a. A Real-Time Quantitative PCR Method Specific for Detection and Quantification of the First Commercialized Genome-Edited Plant. *Foods* 9(9): 1245.
- Chhalliyil Ilves, H., Kazakov, S. A.Howard, S. J., Johnston, B. H. and J. Fagan. 2020b. Correction: A Real-Time Quantitative PCR Method Specific for Detection and Quantification of the First Commercialized Genome-Edited Plant. *Foods* 2020, 9, 1245.
- Costanzo, Ambrogio, and Paolo Bàrberi. 2016. Field Scale Functional Agrobiodiversity in Organic Wheat: Effects on Weed Reduction, Disease Susceptibility and Yield. *European Journal of Agronomy* 76: 1–16.
- Council Directive (EU) 2015/412 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 March 2015 amending Directive 2001/18/EC as regards the possibility for the Member States to restrict or prohibit the cultivation of genetically modified organisms (GMOs) in their territory, 2015. Official journal <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A32015L0412</u>
- Council Directive 2001/18/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 March 2001 on the deliberate release into the environment of genetically modified organisms and repealing Council Directive 90/220/EEC - Commission Declaration. 2001. Official journal <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A32001L0018</u>
- Council Directive 90/220/EEC of 23 April 1990 on the deliberate release into the environment of genetically modified organisms. 1990. Official Journal <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A31990L0220</u>

- Council Directive 98/44/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 July 1998 on the legal protection of biotechnological inventions. 1990. Official Journal <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/_legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A31998L0044</u>
- Council of the EU. 2019. COUNCIL DECISION (EU) 2019/1904 of 8 November 2019 requesting the Commission to submit a study in light of the Court of Justice's judgment in Case C-528/16 regarding the status of novel genomic techniques under Union law, and a proposal, if appropriate in view of the outcomes of the study: <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/</u> PDF/?uri=CELEX:32019D1904&from=EN
- Döring, Thomas F. et al. 2015. Comparative Analysis of Performance and Stability among Composite Cross Populations, Variety Mixtures and Pure Lines of Winter Wheat in Organic and Conventional Cropping Systems. *Field Crops Research* 183: 235–45.
- Dyer, George A. et al. 2009. Dispersal of Transgenes through Maize Seed Systems in Mexico. *PloS One* 4(5): e5734.
- ECJ. 2018. European Court of Justice, Case C-528/16, Confédération Paysanne and others vs Premier Ministre and Ministre de l'Agriculture, de l'Agroalimentaire et de la Forêt (2018), ECLI:EU:C:2018:583
- EFSA GMO Panel. 2012. Scientific opinion addressing the safety assessment of plants developed using Zinc Finger Nuclease 3 and other Site-Directed Nucleases with similar function.
- EFSA GMO Panel. 2020. Applicability of the EFSA Opinion on site-directed nucleases type 3 for the safety assessment of plants developed using site-directed nucleases type 1 and 2 and oligonucleotide-directed mutagenesis.
- Ely, A., Friedrich, B., Glover, D., Fischer, K., Stone, G. D., Kingiri, A., & Schnurr, M. A. 2022. Governing Agricultural Biotechnologies in the United States, the United Kingdom, and Germany: A Trans-decadal Study of Regulatory Cultures. *Science, Technology & Human Values*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/01622439221122513</u>
- EPO. 2020. Opinion of the Enlarged Board of Appeal dated 14 May 2020 G 3/19, Official Journal of the European Patent Office 2020, A119.
- EPO. 2023. Guidelines for Examination, 5.4. Plant and animal varieties or essentially biological processes for the production of plants or animals, <u>https://www.epo.org/law-practice/legal-texts/html/guidelines/e/g_ii_5_4.htm</u> (accessed 1st April 2023)
- ETC Group 2022. Food Barons. https://www.etcgroup.org/files/files/food-barons-2022-full_sectors-final_16_ sept.pdf
- European Commission. 2015. Overview of the Agricultural Inputs Sector in the EU. IP/B/ AGRI/IC/2014_67.

- European Commission. 2019. Communication from the Commission—The European Green Deal, COM(2019) 640 final, 11 December 2019.
- European Commission. 2020. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions—A Farm to Fork Strategy for a fair, healthy and environmentally-friendly food system (COM(2020) 381 final, 20.5.2020)
- European Commission. 2021. Data gathering and analysis to support a Commission study on the Union's options to update the existing legislation on the production and marketing of plant reproductive material. Final report, Directorate-General for Health and Food Safety, Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- European Commission. 2023. Organic farming in the EU: A decade of organic growth. Agricultural Market Brief No. 20. Directorate-General for Agriculture and Rural Development.
- European Court of Auditors. 2020. Special Report 05/2020: Sustainable use of plant protection products: limited progress in measuring and reducing risks
- European Patent Convention (EPC). 1973. Convention on the Grant of European Patents (European Patent Convention) of 5 October 1973, 17th edition, November 2020.
- Evans, Neal et al. 2008. Range and Severity of a Plant Disease Increased by Global Warming. Journal of The Royal Society Interface 5(22): 525–31.
- Fernandez-Cornejo, J. and Schimmelpfennig, D. 2004. Have Seed Industry Changes Affected Research Effort? USDA Economic Research Service, AmberWaves, February 2004.
- García, Matías, Carlos García-Benítez, Félix Ortego, and Gema P. Farinós. 2023. Monitoring Insect Resistance to Bt Maize in the European Union: Update, Challenges, and Future Prospects. *Journal of Economic Entomology* 116 (2):275-288. doi: 10.1093/jee/toac154.
- Ginkgo Bioworks. 2022. IARPA, Ginkgo Bioworks and Draper Announce New Technologies to Detect Engineered DNA, Streamed live on Oct 17, 2022, <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=XQjR3mmFLhk</u>, accessed 1st May 2023
- GLOBAL 2000, Friends of the Earth Austria, Friends of the Earth Europe, Corporate Europe Observatory (CEO), Arche Noah, IG Saatgut–Interessengemeinschaft für gentechnikfreie Saatgutarbeit and Arbeiterkammer Wien. 2022. Exposed: How biotech giants use patents and new GMOs to control the future of food, <u>https://friendsoftheearth.eu/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/G2_BIOTECH_</u> <u>GIANTS_EXPOSED.pdf</u> (accessed 1st May 2023)
- Gonsalves, C., Lee, D. R. &D. Gonsalves. 2007. The Adoption of genetically modified papaya in Hawaii and its implications for developing countries, *The Journal of Development Studies* 43(1) 177-191, DOI: 10.1080/00220380601055650

- Goure, W.F., 2004. Value creation and capture with transgenic plants. In: *The GMO Handbook.* Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp. 263–296.
- Graff, G. D., G. C. Rausser, A. A. Small. 2003. Agricultural biotechnology's complementary intellectual assets. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 85(2), pp. 349–363
- Heinemann, Jack A., Melanie Massaro, Dorien S. Coray, Sarah Zanon Agapito-Tenfen, and Jiajun Dale Wen. 2013. Sustainability and innovation in staple crop production in the US Midwest. *International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability*:1-18. doi: 10.1080/14735903.2013.806408.
- Hilbeck et al. 2013. Farmers' choice of seeds in four EU countries under different levels of GM crop adoption. *Environmental Sciences Europe* 25:12
- Howard, Philip H. 2015. Intellectual Property and Consolidation in the Seed Industry. *Crop Science* 55 (6):2489-2495. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci2014.09.0669</u>.
- Hubbard, C. 2009. Out of hands: farmers face the consequences of a consolidated seed industry. Stoughton, WI: Farmer to Farmer Campaign on genetic engineering <u>http://www.farmertofarmercampaign.com/Out%20of%20Hand.FullReport.pdf</u>
- ISAAA. 2019. Biotech Crop Highlights in 2019. Available at: <u>https://www.isaaa.org/resources/ publications/pocketk/16/default.asp</u>
- Jefferson, O.A., Lang, S., Williams, K. et al. Mapping CRISPR-Cas9 public and commercial innovation using The Lens institutional toolkit. *Transgenic Res* 30, 585–599 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1007/s11248-021-00237-y
- Jorasch, Petra. 2020. Potential, Challenges, and Threats for the Application of New Breeding Techniques by the Private Plant Breeding Sector in the EU. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 11. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2020.582011.
- Knispel, Alexis L., and Stéphane M. McLachlan. 2010. Landscape-Scale Distribution and Persistence of Genetically Modified Oilseed Rape (Brassica Napus) in Manitoba, Canada. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 17(1): 13–25.
- Kock, M.A. Open Intellectual Property Models for Plant Innovations in the Context of New Breeding Technologies. *Agronomy* 2021, 11, 1218. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy11061218</u>
- Lammerts van Bueren, E. T., P. C. Struik, and E. Jacobsen. 2002. Ecological Concepts in Organic Farming and Their Consequences for an Organic Crop Ideotype. *NJAS–Wageningen Journal of Life Sciences* 50(1): 1–26.
- Lammerts van Bueren, E. T., S. S. Jones, L. Tamm, K. M. Murphy, J. R. Myers, C. Leifert, and M. M.Messmer. 2011. The need to breed crop varieties suitable for organic farming, using wheat, tomato and broccoli as examples: A review. NJAS– Wageningen Journal of Life Sciences 58 (3):193-205. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.njas.2010.04.001.

- Layadi, R. 2012. Maintaining a Supply of Non-GM Feed A Strategic Issue for European Regional Agriculture. In *Genetically Modified and Non-Genetically Modified Food Supply Chains*: Co-Existence and Traceability, 543-562.
- Leach, M, I Scoones, and A Stirling. 2010. *Dynamic sustainabilities: Technology, environment, social justice.* London: Routledge.
- Leach, Melissa, Nicholas Nisbett, Lídia Cabral, Jody Harris, Naomi Hossain, and John Thompson. 2020. Food politics and development. *World Development* 134:105024. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.105024</u>.
- Levidow, Les, and Karin Boschert. 2008. Coexistence or contradiction? GM crops versus alternative agricultures in Europe. *Geoforum* 39 (1):174-190. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2007.01.001</u>.
- Lianos, I., Katalevsky, D., and Ivanov, A. 2016. The global seed market, competition law and intellectual property rights: Untying the Gordian knot. *CLES Research Paper Series* 2/2016.
- Louwaars, N., H. Dons, G. Van Overwalle, H. Raven, A. Arundel, D. Eaton, and A. Nelis. 2009. Breeding business: The future of plant breeding in the light of developments in patent rights and plant breeder's rights. CGN Report 2009–14, Wageningen: Centre for Genetic Resources.
- Malandrin, V., Dvortsin, L. 2013. Participatory processes of agroecological innovation in organic cereal breeding: A case study from Italy. IV International Symposium, Agrosym.
- Mammana, I. 2014. Concentration of market power in the EU seed market. Study commissioned by the Greens/EFA Group in the European Parliament.
- Marin, Anabel, Lilia Stubrin, and Patrick van Zwanenberg. 2023. Technological lock-in in action: Appraisal and policy commitment in Argentina's seed sector. *Research Policy* 52 (2):104678. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2022.104678</u>.
- Modrzejewski D, Hartung F, Sprink T, Krause D, Kohl C, Wilhelm R. 2019 What is the available evidence for the range of applications of genome-editing as a new tool for plant trait modification and the potential occurrence of associated offtarget effects: a systematic map. *Environmental Evidence* 8:27
- Montull, José M., and Joel Torra. 2023. Herbicide Resistance Is Increasing in Spain: Concomitant Management and Prevention. Plants 12 (3). doi:10.3390/ plants12030469.
- Murphy, Kevin M., Kimberly G. Campbell, Steven R. Lyon, and Stephen S. Jones. 2007. Evidence of Varietal Adaptation to Organic Farming Systems. *Field Crops Research* 102(3): 172–77.

- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (NAS). 2016. Genetically Engineered Crops: Experiences and Prospects. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.17226/23395</u>.
- National Farmers Union (2022), Submission to USDA Hearing on 'Competition and the Intellectual Property System: Seeds and Other Agricultural Inputs', Docket No. AMS-AMS-22-0025. Available at: https://www.regulations.gov/docket/AMS-AMS-22-0025/comments

New Scientist (2004) Monsanto failure, 7 February, accessed 25/4/2023

- OECD (2018). Concentration in Seed Markets: Potential Effects and Policy Responses. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- O'Farell, J., (2020.) 'Te espero en Rotterdam: Poder Empresario y Desarrollo Dependiente en la agricultura argentina durante el boom de los commodities' [l'Il wait for you in Rotterdam: Entrepreneurship and Dependent Development in Argentine agriculture during the commodity boom], Unpublished PhD thesis, Universidad Torcuato Di Tella, Buenos Aires, Argentina.
- Peterson, M.A., Collavo, A., Ovejero, R., Shivrain, V., J Walsh, M.J. (2017) The challenge of herbicide resistance around the world: a current summary, *Pest Management Science*, Vol. 74, pp. 2246-2259
- Price, B., & Cotter, J. (2014). The GM Contamination Register: A review of recorded contamination incidents associated with genetically modified organisms (GMOs), 1997–2013. International Journal of Food Contamination, 1(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40550-014-0005-8
- Quist, David, and Ignacio H. Chapela. 2001. 'Transgenic DNA Introgressed into Traditional Maize Landraces in Oaxaca, Mexico'. *Nature* 414(6863): 541–43.
- Ribarits, A., Eckerstorfer, M., Simon, S. and W. Stepanek (2021) Genome-Edited Plants: Opportunities and Challenges for an Anticipatory Detection and Identification Framework, *Foods* 10, 430. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/foods10020430</u>
- Royal Society of London, National Academy of Sciences (US), Brazilian Academy of Sciences, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Indian National Science Academy, Mexican Academy of Sciences, Third World Academy of Sciences, 2000. Transgenic Plants and World Agriculture. National Academies Press (US), Washington (DC).
- Schebesta, H., Candel, J.J.L. 2020. Game-changing potential of the EU's Farm to Fork Strategy. *Nature Food*, Vol. 1, pp. 586–588.
- Schenkelaars, P., de Vriend, H., & Kalaitzandonakes, N. (2011). Drivers of consolidation in the seed industry and its consequences for innovation. Report for COGEM (Commissie Genetische Modificatie [Genetic Modification Commission]).
 Wageningen (NL): Schenkelaars Biotechnology Consultancy.

Schimmelpfennig, D., C. Pray, and M. Brennan. 2004. The impact of seed industry concentration on innovation: a study of US biotech market leaders. *Agricultural Economics* 30:157-167.

Smil, Václav. 2019. Energy (r)evolutions take time. World Energy (44):10-14.

- Smith, N., 2000. Seeds of opportunity: an assessment of the benefits, safety, and oversight of plant genomics and agricultural biotechnology. *Biotechnology Law Report*, 19, pp. 449–536.
- Solfanelli, Francesco, Emel Ozturk, Emilia C. Dudinskaya, Serena Mandolesi, Stefano Orsini, Monika Messmer, Simona Naspetti, Freya Schäfer, Eva Winter, and Raffaele Zanoli. 2022. Estimating Supply and Demand of Organic Seeds in Europe Using Survey Data and MI Techniques. *Sustainability* 14 (17). doi:10.3390/su141710761.
- Solfanelli, Francesco, Emel Ozturk, Rafaelle Zanoli, Stefano Orsini and Freya Schäfer. 2019. The state of organic seed in Europe. Liveseed. Available from <u>https://www.liveseed.eu/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/FNL-FNL-Web-Interactive-NOV19-Booklet2-LIVESEED_web.pdf</u> (Accessed May 2023).
- Tabashnik, Bruce E., Jeffrey A. Fabrick, and Yves Carrière. 2023. Global Patterns of Insect Resistance to Transgenic Bt Crops: The First 25 Years. *Journal of Economic Entomology* 116 (2):297-309. doi: 10.1093/jee/toac183.
- Tang, M., Matson, J. & Wynn, S. (2014) Seeds, Patents and Power: The Shifting Foundation of Our Food System. Available at: <u>http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2525120</u>
- Testbiotech (2021) New GE and food plants: The disruptive impact of patents on breeders, food production and society, <u>https://www.testbiotech.org/sites/</u> <u>default/files/Patents_on%20new%20GE.pdf, accessed 28/4/2023</u>
- U.S. Department of Agriculture (2023) 'More and Better Choices for Farmers: Promoting Fair Competition and Innovation in Seeds and Other Agricultural Inputs.' A report directed by President Biden's Executive Order Number 14036: "Promoting Competition in America's Economy" Agricultural Marketing Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture, March 2023, <u>https://www.ams.usda.gov/sites/ default/files/media/SeedsReport.pdf</u>
- Van Oost, J. and L. Fresco (2021) Waive CRISPR patents to meet food needs in lowincome Countries, *Nature*, 597, 178
- Vanloqueren, G., and P. V. Baret (2010) How agricultural research systems shape a technological regime that develops genetic engineering but locks out agroecological innovations, *Research Policy* 38 (6):971-983
- Venus, T. J., Dillen, K., Punt, M. J., & Wesseler, J. H. H. (2017) The costs of coexistence measures for genetically modified maize in Germany. *Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 68(2), 407-426. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1477-9552.12178</u>

 Waltz, E. 2012. 'Tiptoeing around transgenics.' *Nature Biotechnology* 30 (3):215-217.
Weedon, Odette D., and Maria R. Finckh. 2019. 'Heterogeneous Winter Wheat Populations Differ in Yield Stability Depending on Their Genetic Background and Management System'. *Sustainability* 11(21): 6172.

- Weidner, C., Edelmann, S., Moor, D., Lieske, K., Savini, C., Jacchia, S., Sacco, M. G., Mazzara, M., Lämke, J., Eckermann, KK. N., Emons, H., Mankertz, J. and Lutz Grohmann (2022) Assessment of the Real-Time PCR Method Claiming to be Specific for Detection and Quantification of the First Commercialised Genome-Edited Plant, *Food Analytical Methods* 15, 2107–2125 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12161-022-02237-y
- Wolfe, M. S. et al. 2008. 'Developments in Breeding Cereals for Organic Agriculture'. *Euphytica* 163(3): 323–46.
- Wolt, Jeffrey D., Kan Wang, and Bing Yang. 2016. 'The Regulatory Status of Genomeedited Crops.' *Plant Biotechnology Journal* 14 (2):510–518. doi: 10.1111/pbi.12444.
- Wood, T. J. & Goulson, D. (2017) The environmental risks of neonicotinoid pesticides: a review of the evidence post 2013, *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 24, 17285-17325, doi:10.1007/s11356-017-9240-x
- Wright, B. D. & Pardey, P. G. (2006) The evolving rights to intellectual property protection in the agricultural biosciences, *Int. J. Technology and Globalisation*, Vol. 2, Nos. 1/2, 2006, pp. 12-29
- WTO (2018) "International Statement on Agricultural Applications of Precision Biotechnology: Communication from Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Canada, The Dominican Republic, Guatemala, Honduras, Paraguay, The United States of America and Uruguay." Accessed 27/4/2023. <u>https://docs.wto.org/dol2fe/Pages/ FE_Search/FE_S_S009-DP.aspx?language=E&CatalogueldList=249321</u>





60 rue Wiertz/Wiertzstraat 60 1047 Brussels, Belgium www.greens-efa.eu contactgreens@ep.europa.eu

Layout & Design OKAY WHEN Agency